

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE

Remote location using Microsoft® Teams
Wednesday, June 15, 2022
10:10 p.m.

PRESENT:

COUNCIL PRESIDENT DARRELL L. CLARKE, CHAIR
COUNCILWOMAN CHERELLE L. PARKER, VICE-CHAIR
COUNCILWOMAN CINDY BASS
COUNCILWOMAN KENDRA BROOKS
COUNCILMAN ALLAN DOMB
COUNCILMAN MICHAEL J. DRISCOLL
COUNCILWOMAN JAMIE GAUTHIER
COUNCILWOMAN KATHERINE GILMORE RICHARDSON
COUNCILMAN DEREK S. GREEN
COUNCILWOMAN HELEN GYM
COUNCILMAN KENYATTA JOHNSON
COUNCILMAN CURTIS JONES, JR.
COUNCILMAN DAVID OH
COUNCILMAN BRIAN J. O'NEILL
COUNCILWOMAN MARIA D. QUINONES-SANCHEZ
COUNCILMAN MARK SQUILLA
COUNCILMAN ISAIAH THOMAS

BILLS: 200012, 210284, 220240, 220284, 220286,
220287, 220288, 220410, 220411, 220412,
220413, 220421, 220455, 220485, 220497,
220499, 220531
RESOLUTIONS: 220300

1 - - -

2 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

3 Thank you and good evening, everyone.

4 I thank you for your patience. We

5 will start our process. Sorry to be a

6 little late, but there's a lot of

7 different iterations and changes and

8 discussions. We're dealing with your

9 money, so we want to make sure that we

10 make the appropriate and the best and

11 most efficient and effective decisions

12 with your money.

13 Before we begin the public

14 hearing, I would like to make the

15 following announcement: Due to the

16 continuing threat of public health

17 from COVID-19, City Council Committees

18 are currently meeting remotely. We

19 are using Microsoft Teams to make

20 these hearings possible. Instructions

21 for how the public may view and offer

22 public testimony at public hearings of

23 Council Committees are included in the

24 public hearing notices that are

25 published in the Daily News, the

1 Inquirer and Legal Intelligencer prior
2 to the hearing and can also be found
3 on PHLCouncil.com. I will now note
4 that the hour has come.

5 Mr. McDermott, can you please
6 call the roll to take attendance.

7 Members that are in attendance, please
8 indicate so by saying you're present.

9 THE CLERK: Councilmember
10 Bass.

11 COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Good
12 evening, Mr. President, colleagues and
13 the City of Philadelphia.

14 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
15 Good evening.

16 THE CLERK: Councilmember
17 Brooks.

18 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS: Good
19 evening, everyone. I'm present.

20 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
21 Good evening.

22 THE CLERK: Councilmember
23 Domb.

24 COUNCILMAN DOMB: Good
25 evening, Council President,

1 colleagues. Present.

2 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

3 Good evening.

4 THE CLERK: Councilmember

5 Driscoll.

6 COUNCILMAN DRISCOLL: Good

7 evening, new colleagues. I'm present.

8 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

9 Good evening.

10 THE CLERK: Councilmember

11 Gauthier.

12 COUNCILWOMAN GAUTHIER: Good

13 evening, everyone. Present.

14 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

15 Good evening.

16 THE CLERK: Councilmember

17 Gilmore Richardson.

18 COUNCILWOMAN GILMORE

19 RICHARDSON: Good evening, Council

20 President and colleagues. Present.

21 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

22 Good evening.

23 THE CLERK: Councilmember

24 Green.

25 COUNCILMAN GREEN: Good

1 morning, Council President. Good
2 mor -- good af -- good evening,
3 colleagues. I am present. Long day.

4 THE CLERK: Councilmember
5 Gym.

6 COUNCILWOMAN GYM: Good
7 afternoon, Council President. Good
8 afternoon, colleagues. I am present.

9 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
10 Good afternoon.

11 Councilman Green, we're close
12 to morning so.

13 THE CLERK: Councilmember
14 Johnson.

15 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Good
16 evening, Council President. Good
17 evening, colleagues.

18 THE CLERK: Councilmember
19 Jones.

20 COUNCILMAN JONES: Good
21 evening, Council President Clarke,
22 colleagues. I'm present.

23 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
24 Good evening.

25 THE CLERK: Councilmember

1 O'Neill.

2 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL: Good
3 evening, everyone.

4 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
5 Good evening.

6 THE CLERK: Councilmember Oh.

7 COUNCILMAN OH: Good evening,
8 Council President. Good evening,
9 colleagues. I'm present.

10 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
11 Good evening.

12 THE CLERK: Councilmember
13 Parker.

14 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Good
15 evening, Council President and
16 colleagues. Present.

17 THE CLERK: Councilmember
18 Quinones-Sanchez.

19 COUNCILWOMAN QUINONES-
20 SANCHEZ: Good evening, Council
21 President and colleagues. I am
22 present.

23 THE CLERK: Councilmember
24 Squilla.

25 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Good

1 evening, Council President and
2 colleagues. Present.

3 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
4 Good evening.

5 THE CLERK: Councilmember
6 Thomas.

7 COUNCILMAN THOMAS: Good
8 evening, Council President. Good
9 evening, colleagues. I'm present.

10 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
11 Good evening.

12 THE CLERK: And, Council
13 President Clarke.

14 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
15 And good evening to you all. We've
16 established a quorum so the hearing is
17 now called to order. This is the
18 continued public hearing of the
19 Committee of the Whole regarding Bill
20 Nos. 200012, 210284, 220240, 220286,
21 220287, 220288, 220410, 220411,
22 220412, 220413, 220421 and 220455,
23 220485, 220497, 220499 and 220531 and
24 Resolution No. 220300.

25 Mr. McDermott, please read

1 the titles of the bills and the
2 resolution.

3 THE CLERK: Bill No. 200012,
4 amending Section 19-1301 of The
5 Philadelphia Code, entitled "Homestead
6 Exclusion," to increase the amount of
7 the Homestead Exclusion, under certain
8 terms and conditions.

9 Bill No. 210284, amending
10 Chapter 19-2600 of The Philadelphia
11 Code, entitled "Business Income and
12 Receipt Taxes," by revising certain
13 taxes, under certain terms and
14 conditions.

15 Bill No. 220240, an ordinance
16 substantially increasing the budget in
17 a number of areas in the neighborhoods
18 around the City served by the
19 Community Life Improvement Program, to
20 improve the health safety and
21 cleanliness in every neighborhood and
22 enhance the quality of life for all
23 residents.

24 Bill No. 220286, an ordinance
25 adopting the Operating Budget for

1 Fiscal Year 2023.

2 Bill No. 220287, an ordinance
3 amending Section 10-1001 of The
4 Philadelphia Code, entitled "Fees of
5 Commissioner of Records," to increase
6 certain fees for the recording of
7 deeds and mortgages and related
8 documents, under certain terms and
9 conditions.

10 Bill No. 220288, an ordinance
11 amending Section 19-1403 of The
12 Philadelphia Code, entitled
13 "Imposition of Tax," by creating a
14 Philadelphia County Demolition Fund to
15 increase and encourage economic
16 development by demolishing blighted
17 properties within the City, imposing a
18 related fee for recorded documents and
19 related items; and making technical
20 changes; all under certain terms and
21 conditions.

22 Bill No. 220410, amending
23 Section 19-1500 of The Philadelphia
24 Code, entitled "Wage and Net Profits
25 Taxes," by revising certain tax rates,

1 under certain terms and conditions.

2 Bill No. 220411, amending
3 Section 19-1301.1 of The Philadelphia
4 Code, entitled "Homestead Exclusion,"
5 to increase the amount of the
6 Homestead Exclusion, under certain
7 terms and conditions.

8 Bill No. 220412, amending
9 Chapter 19-3900 of The Philadelphia
10 Code, entitled "Tax Exemptions for
11 Longtime Owner-Occupants at
12 Residential Properties," to revise the
13 cap and total number of exemptions
14 authorized under the program, under
15 certain terms and conditions.

16 Bill No. 220413, amending
17 Section 19-1303 of The Philadelphia
18 Code, entitled "Discounts and
19 Additions to Tax," by tolling
20 additions, interest and penalties on
21 real estate tax when the assessed
22 value of property is under appeal and
23 limiting tax payments due based on
24 certain assessments under appeals, all
25 under certain terms and conditions.

1 Bill No. 220421, amending
2 Chapter 19-2900 of Title 19 of The
3 Philadelphia Code, entitled "Senior
4 Citizen Low Income Special Tax
5 Provisions," by extending the deadline
6 for low-income seniors to apply for a
7 refund for forgiveness of real estate
8 taxes, under certain terms and
9 conditions.

10 Bill No. 220455, amending
11 Section 19-1301 of The Philadelphia
12 Code, entitled "Homestead Exclusion,"
13 to increase the amount of the
14 Homestead Exclusion, under certain
15 terms and conditions.

16 Bill No. 220485, amending
17 Section 19-2600 of The Philadelphia
18 Code, entitled "Business Income and
19 Receipts Taxes," with respect to the
20 allocation and apportionment of income
21 and receipts inside and outside of the
22 City, under certain terms and
23 conditions.

24 Bill No. 220497, amending
25 Section 19-3900 of The Philadelphia

1 Code, entitled "Tax Exemptions for
2 Longtime Owner-Occupants of
3 Residential Properties," to modify
4 parameters of tax exemptions for
5 longtime residential owner-occupants,
6 all under certain terms and
7 conditions.

8 Bill No. 220499, amending
9 Chapter 19-2900 of The Philadelphia
10 Code, entitled "Senior Citizen Low
11 Income Special Tax Provisions," to
12 modify parameters of special tax
13 provisions for low-income seniors,
14 including the deadline for filing an
15 application, all under certain terms
16 and conditions.

17 Bill No. 220531, amending
18 Chapter 19-300 of The Philadelphia
19 Code, entitled "Real Estate Taxes," to
20 establish rebates for early payment of
21 real estate taxes, under certain terms
22 and conditions.

23 And Resolution No. 220300, a
24 resolution providing for the approval
25 by the Council of the City of

1 Philadelphia, a Revised Five Year
2 Financial Plan for the City of
3 Philadelphia covering Fiscal Years
4 2023 through 2027 and incorporating
5 revised changes with respect to Fiscal
6 Year 2022, which is to be submitted by
7 the Mayor to the Pennsylvania
8 Intergovernmental Cooperation
9 Authority, the authority pursuant to
10 the Intergovernmental Cooperation
11 Agreement, authorized by an ordinance
12 of this Council by the Mayor on
13 January 3, 1992 by and between the
14 City and the Authority.

15 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

16 Thank you, Mr. McDermott.

17 We will briefly resume the
18 public hearing and announce that there
19 are no departments being called back
20 and no further testimony from the
21 public.

22 With that said, are there any
23 questions or comments from members of
24 the Committee?

25 (No response.)

1 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

2 There being none, no further questions
3 from members of the Committee and no
4 other witnesses to testify, this
5 concludes the public hearing of the
6 Committee. We will now go into our
7 public meeting to consider the action
8 to be taken on the operating budget
9 and associated spending measures and
10 amendments thereof. We will now
11 convene the public meeting.

12 Mr. McDermott, will you
13 please call the roll again to take
14 attendance. Members that are in
15 attendance, please indicate that you
16 are present. Mr. McDermott.

17 THE CLERK: Councilmember
18 Bass.

19 COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Good
20 evening. I'm still present. Thank
21 you.

22 THE CLERK: Councilmember
23 Brooks.

24 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:
25 Present.

1 THE CLERK: Councilmember
2 Domb.

3 COUNCILMAN DOMB: Present.
4 Thank you.

5 THE CLERK: Councilmember
6 Driscoll.

7 COUNCILMAN DRISCOLL:
8 Present.

9 THE CLERK: Councilmember
10 Gauthier.

11 COUNCILWOMAN GAUTHIER:
12 Present.

13 THE CLERK: Councilmember
14 Gilmore Richardson.

15 COUNCILWOMAN GILMORE
16 RICHARDSON: Present.

17 THE CLERK: Councilmember
18 Green.

19 COUNCILMAN GREEN: Present.

20 THE CLERK: Councilmember
21 Gym.

22 COUNCILWOMAN GYM: Present.

23 THE CLERK: Councilmember
24 Johnson.

25 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Present.

1 THE CLERK: Councilmember

2 Jones.

3 COUNCILMAN JONES: Present.

4 THE CLERK: Councilmember

5 O'Neill.

6 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL: Present.

7 THE CLERK: Councilmember Oh.

8 COUNCILMAN OH: Present.

9 THE CLERK: Councilmember

10 Parker.

11 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER:

12 Present.

13 THE CLERK: Councilmember

14 Quinones-Sanchez.

15 COUNCILWOMAN QUINONES-

16 SANCHEZ: Present.

17 THE CLERK: Councilmember

18 Squilla.

19 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Present.

20 THE CLERK: Councilmember

21 Thomas.

22 COUNCILMAN THOMAS: Present.

23 THE CLERK: And, Council

24 President Clarke.

25 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

1 Thank you. And we will now go into
2 our public meeting.

3 Chair recognizes
4 Councilmember Johnson for a motion on
5 the amendment to Bill No. 200012.

6 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank
7 you, Mr. Chairman.

8 I offer a new amendment to
9 Bill No. 200012, which will supersede
10 the amendment offered at yesterday's
11 meeting of this Committee. A copy of
12 the amendment has been circulated to
13 all members of the Committee. I move
14 that the amendment to Bill No. 200012
15 be approved.

16 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Second.

17 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
18 Thank you. It's been moved and
19 properly seconded that the amendment
20 to Bill No. 200012 be approved.

21 All those in favor indicate
22 by saying aye.

23 (Aye.)

24 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
25 Those opposed?

1 (No response.)

2 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

3 The ayes have it and the motion
4 carries. And the amendment to Bill
5 200012 has been approved.

6 Chair recognizes
7 Councilmember Johnson for a motion on
8 Bill No. 200012 as amended.

9 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank
10 you, Mr. Chairman.

11 I move that Bill No. 200012
12 as amended be reported from the
13 Committee with a favorable
14 recommendation and further move that
15 the rules of Council be suspended to
16 permit first reading of this bill at
17 the next session of Council.

18 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Second.

19 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
20 Thank you. It has been moved and
21 properly seconded that Bill No. 200012
22 as amended be reported from this
23 Committee with a favorable
24 recommendation and further move that
25 the rules of Council be suspended to

1 permit first reading of this bill at
2 the next session of Council.

3 All in favor indicate by
4 saying aye.

5 (Aye.)

6 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

7 Those opposed?

8 (No response.)

9 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

10 The ayes have and the motion carries.

11 Thank you.

12 Chair recognizes

13 Councilmember Thomas for a motion on
14 the amendment to Bill No. 210284.

15 COUNCILMAN THOMAS: Thank
16 you, Council President.

17 I offer an amendment to Bill
18 No. 210284. A copy of the amendment
19 has been circulated to all members of
20 the Committee. I move that the
21 amendment to Bill 210284 be approved.

22 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Second.

23 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

24 Thank you. The Chair notes for the
25 record that Councilmember Parker

1 seconds the motion. It has been moved
2 and properly seconded that the
3 amendment to Bill No. 210284 be
4 approved.

5 All those in favor of the
6 motion will signify by saying aye.

7 (Aye.)

8 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
9 Those opposed?

10 (No response.)

11 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
12 The ayes have it and the motion
13 carries.

14 The Chair again recognizes
15 Councilmember Thomas for a motion on
16 Bill No. 210284 as amended.

17 COUNCILMAN THOMAS: Thank
18 you, Council President.

19 I move that Bill No. 210284
20 as amended be reported from this
21 Committee with a favorable
22 recommendation and further move that
23 the rules of Council be suspended to
24 permit first reading of the bill at
25 the next session of Council.

1 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Second.

2 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

3 Thank you. It has been properly
4 seconded that Bill No. 210284 as
5 amended be reported from this
6 Committee with a favorable
7 recommendation and further move that
8 the rules of Council be suspended to
9 permit the first reading of this bill
10 at the next session of Council.

11 All those in favor indicate
12 by saying aye.

13 (Aye.)

14 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

15 Those opposed?

16 (Nay.)

17 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

18 The ayes have it -- oh, I'm sorry.
19 Let the record reflect that there were
20 two -- I'm sorry. Well, the bill
21 passes. Majority members pass.
22 Motion carries. Thank you very much.

23 Would those Members like to
24 be recognized as voting nay on the
25 record?

1 COUNCILWOMAN GYM:

2 Councilmember Gym.

3 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

4 Councilwoman Gym, Councilmember --

5 COUNCILWOMAN GAUTHIER:

6 Councilmember Gauthier.

7 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

8 Gauthier. Okay.

9 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:

10 Councilmember Brooks.

11 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

12 Councilwoman Brooks. Let the record
13 reflect that those Councilmembers
14 voted nay.

15 Chair recognizes
16 Councilmember Parker for a motion on
17 amendment to Bill No. 220286.

18 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Thank
19 you, Mr. Chairman.

20 I offer an amendment to Bill
21 No. 220286. A copy of the amendment
22 has been circulated to all members of
23 the Committee. I move that the
24 amendment to Bill No. 220286 be
25 approved.

1 COUNCILMAN JONES: Second.

2 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

3 Thank you. It's been moved and
4 seconded that the amendment to Bill
5 220286 be approved.

6 All those in favor of the
7 motion will signify by saying aye.

8 (Aye.)

9 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

10 Those opposed?

11 (No response.)

12 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

13 The ayes have it and the motion
14 carries.

15 Chair again recognizes
16 Councilmember Parker for a motion on
17 Bill No. 220286 as amended.

18 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Thank
19 you, Mr. Chairman.

20 I move that Bill No. 220286
21 as amended be reported from this
22 Committee with a favorable
23 recommendation and further move that
24 the rules of Council be suspended to
25 permit first reading of this bill at

1 the next session of Council.

2 COUNCILMAN JONES: Second.

3 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

4 Thank you. It's been moved and
5 seconded that Bill No. 220286 as
6 amended be reported from this
7 Committee with a favorable
8 recommendation and further move that
9 the rules of Council be suspended to
10 permit first reading of this bill at
11 the next session of Council.

12 All in favor indicate by
13 saying aye.

14 (Aye.)

15 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

16 Those opposed?

17 (No response.)

18 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

19 The ayes have it and the motion
20 carries.

21 The Chair recognizes
22 Councilmember Parker for a motion o
23 Bill No. 220287.

24 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Thank
25 you, Mr. Chairman.

1 I move that Bill No. 220287
2 be reported from this Committee with a
3 favorable recommendation and further
4 move that the rules of Council be
5 suspended to permit first reading of
6 this bill at the next session of
7 Council.

8 COUNCILMAN JONES: Second.

9 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

10 Thank you. Somebody's -- maybe that's
11 just my -- okay.

12 It has been moved and
13 properly seconded that Bill No. 220287
14 be reported from this Committee with a
15 favorable recommendation and further
16 move that the rules of Council be
17 suspended to permit first reading of
18 this bill at the next session of
19 Council.

20 All those in favor of the
21 motion will signify by saying aye.

22 (Aye.)

23 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

24 Those opposed?

25 (No response.)

1 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

2 The ayes have it and the motion
3 carries. Thank you very much.

4 Chair again recognizes
5 Councilmember Parker for a motion on
6 Bill No. 220288.

7 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Thank
8 you, Mr. Chairman.

9 I move that Bill No. 220288
10 be reported from this Committee with a
11 favorable recommendation and further
12 move that the rules of Council be
13 suspended to permit first reading of
14 this bill at the next session of
15 Council.

16 COUNCILMAN JONES: Second.

17 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
18 Thank you. It's been moved and
19 properly seconded that Bill No. 220288
20 be reported from this Committee with a
21 favorable recommendation and further
22 move that the rules of Council be
23 suspended so as to permit the first
24 reading of this bill at the next
25 session of Council.

1 All those in favor indicate
2 by saying aye.

3 (Aye.)

4 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

5 Those opposed?

6 (No response.)

7 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

8 The motion carries. The ayes have it.
9 Thank you very much.

10 And the Chair recognizes
11 Councilmember Gilmore Richardson for a
12 motion on the amendment to Bill No.
13 220410.

14 COUNCILWOMAN GILMORE

15 RICHARDSON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

16 I offer an amendment to Bill
17 No. 220410. A copy of the amendment
18 has been circulated to all members of
19 the Committee. I move that the
20 amendment to Bill No. 220410 be
21 approved.

22 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Second.

23 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

24 Thank you. It's been moved and
25 properly seconded that the amendment

1 to Bill No. 220410 be approved.

2 All those in favor of the
3 motion will signify by saying aye.

4 (Aye.)

5 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

6 Those opposed?

7 (No response.)

8 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

9 The ayes have it. The motion carries
10 and the amendment to Bill No. 220410
11 has been approved.

12 Chair recognizes
13 Councilmember Gilmore Richardson for a
14 motion on Bill 220410 as amended.

15 COUNCILWOMAN GILMORE

16 RICHARDSON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

17 I move that Bill No. 220410
18 as amended be reported from this
19 Committee with a favorable
20 recommendation and further move that
21 the rules of Council be suspended to
22 permit first reading of this bill at
23 the next session of Council.

24 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Second.

25 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

1 Thank you. It has been moved and
2 properly seconded that Bill No. 220410
3 as amended be reported from this
4 Committee with a favorable
5 recommendation and further move that
6 the rules of Council be suspended so
7 as to permit first reading of this
8 bill at the next session of Council.

9 All those in favor indicate
10 by saying aye.

11 (Aye.)

12 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

13 Those opposed?

14 (Nay.)

15 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

16 The record should reflect that
17 Councilwoman Gauthier, Councilwoman --
18 is it Gym?

19 COUNCILWOMAN GYM: Yes.

20 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

21 And, Councilwoman Brooks?

22 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS: Yes.

23 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

24 All right. Voted nay. The ayes have
25 it and the motion carries.

1 The Chair recognizes
2 Councilmember Parker for a motion on
3 the amendment to 220412.

4 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Thank
5 you, Mr. Chairman.

6 I offer an amendment to Bill
7 No. 220412. A copy of the amendment
8 has been circulated to all members of
9 the Committee. I move that the
10 amendment to Bill No. 220412 be
11 approved.

12 COUNCILMAN JONES: Second.

13 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
14 Thank you. It's been moved and
15 properly that the amendment to Bill
16 No. 220412 be approved.

17 All those in favor of the
18 motion will signify by saying aye.

19 (Aye.)

20 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
21 Those opposed?

22 (No response.)

23 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
24 The ayes have it and the motion
25 carries, and the amendment to Bill No.

1 220412 has been approved.

2 The Chair again recognizes
3 Councilmember Parker for a motion on
4 Bill No. 220412 as amended.

5 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Thank
6 you, Mr. Chairman.

7 I move that Bill No. 220412
8 as amended be reported from this
9 Committee with a favorable
10 recommendation and further move that
11 the rules of Council be suspended to
12 permit first reading of this bill at
13 the next session of Council.

14 COUNCILMAN JONES: Second.

15 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
16 Thank you. It's been moved and
17 properly seconded that Bill No. 220412
18 as amended be reported from this
19 Committee with a favorable
20 recommendation and further move that
21 the rules of Council be suspended to
22 permit first reading of this bill at
23 the next session of Council.

24 All those in favor indicate
25 by saying aye.

1 (Aye.)

2 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

3 Those opposed?

4 (No response.)

5 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

6 The ayes have it and the motion
7 carries.

8 The Chair recognizes
9 Councilmember Parker for a motion on
10 Bill No. 220413.

11 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Thank
12 you, Mr. Chairman.

13 I move that Bill No. 220413
14 be reported from this Committee with a
15 favorable recommendation and further
16 move that the rules of Council be
17 suspended to permit first reading of
18 this bill at the next session of
19 Council.

20 COUNCILMAN JONES: Second.

21 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
22 It's been moved and properly seconded
23 that Bill No. 220413 be reported from
24 the Committee with a favorable
25 recommendation and further move that

1 the rules of Council be suspended to
2 permit first reading of this bill at
3 the next session of Council.

4 All in favor will indicate by
5 saying aye.

6 (Aye.)

7 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

8 Those opposed?

9 (No response.)

10 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

11 The ayes have it and the motion
12 carries.

13 Chair recognizes
14 Councilmember Parker for a motion on
15 Bill No. 220485.

16 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Thank
17 you, Mr. Chairman.

18 I move that Bill No. 220485
19 be reported from this Committee with a
20 favorable recommendation and further
21 move that the rules of Council be
22 suspended to permit first reading of
23 this bill at the next session of
24 Council.

25 COUNCILMAN JONES: Second.

1 COUNCILMAN OH: Second.

2 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

3 Thank you. It's been moved and
4 properly seconded that Bill No. 220485
5 be reported from this Committee with a
6 favorable recommendation and further
7 move that the rules of Council be
8 suspended as to permit first reading
9 of this bill at the next session of
10 Council.

11 All in favor indicate by
12 saying aye.

13 (Aye.)

14 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

15 Those opposed?

16 (Nay.)

17 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

18 And let the record reflect
19 Councilwoman Gauthier, Councilwoman
20 Gym, Councilwoman Brooks voted nay.

21 Chair --

22 COUNCILWOMAN GAUTHIER:

23 Councilwoman Gauthier as well.

24 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

25 I'm sorry. Yes, Councilwoman Gauthier

1 voted no.

2 Chair recognizes

3 Councilmember Park -- Johnson, I'm
4 sorry, for a motion on the amendment
5 to Bill No. 220497.

6 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank
7 you, Mr. Chairman.

8 I offer a new amendment to
9 Bill No. 220497 which would supersede
10 the amendment of yesterday's meeting
11 of this Committee. A copy of the
12 amendment has been circulated to all
13 members of the Committee. I move that
14 the amendment to Bill No. 220497 be
15 approved.

16 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Second.

17 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
18 Thank you. It's been moved and
19 properly seconded that the amendment
20 to Bill No. 220497 be approved.

21 All those in favor of the
22 motion will signify by saying aye.

23 (Aye.)

24 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
25 Those opposed?

1 (No response.)

2 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

3 The ayes have it and the motion
4 carries. Thank you very much.

5 The Chair again recognizes
6 Councilmember Johnson for a motion on
7 Bill No. 220497 as amended.

8 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank
9 you, Mr. Chairman.

10 I move that Bill No. 220497
11 as amended be reported from this
12 Committee with a favorable
13 recommendation and further move that
14 the rules of Council be suspended as
15 to permit first reading of this bill
16 at the next session of Council.

17 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Second.

18 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
19 Thank you. It has been moved and
20 properly seconded that Bill No. 220497
21 as amended be reported from this
22 Committee with a favorable
23 recommendation and further move that
24 the rules of Council be suspended to
25 permit first reading of this bill at

1 the next session of Council.

2 All those in favor will
3 indicate by saying aye.

4 (Aye.)

5 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

6 Those opposed?

7 (No response.)

8 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

9 The ayes have it and the motion
10 carries.

11 Chair recognizes
12 Councilmember Johnson for a motion on
13 the amendment to Bill No. 220499.

14 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank
15 you, Mr. Chairman.

16 An amendment to Bill No.
17 220499 has been previously offered
18 into the record. I move that the
19 amendment to Bill No. 220499 be
20 approved.

21 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Second.

22 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

23 Thank you. It's been moved and
24 properly seconded that the amendment
25 to Bill No. 220499 be approved.

1 All those in favor of the
2 motion will signify by saying aye.

3 (Aye.)

4 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

5 The ayes have it. The motion carries.
6 The amendment to Bill No. 220499 will
7 be approved.

8 The Chair recommends
9 Councilmember Johnson for a motion on
10 Bill No. 220499 as amended.

11 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank
12 you, Mr. Chair, Mr. President.

13 I move that Bill No. 220499
14 as amended be reported from this
15 Committee with a favorable
16 recommendation and further move that
17 the rules of Council be suspended to
18 permit first reading of this bill at
19 the next session of Council.

20 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Second.

21 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

22 Thank you. It's been moved and
23 properly seconded that Bill No. 220499
24 as amended be reported from this
25 Committee with a favorable

1 recommendation and further move that
2 the rules of Council be suspended to
3 permit the first reading of this bill
4 at the next session of Council.

5 All those in favor indicate
6 by saying aye.

7 (Aye.)

8 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

9 Those opposed?

10 (No response.)

11 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

12 The ayes it have it and the motion
13 carries.

14 Chair recognizes
15 Councilmember Oh for a motion on the
16 amendment to Bill No. 220531.

17 COUNCILMAN OH: Thank you,
18 Mr. Chairman.

19 I offer an amendment to Bill
20 No. 220531 superseding the amendment
21 that I offered yesterday. Based on a
22 request from the School District of
23 Philadelphia, I have reduced from 5
24 percent to 2 percent the early
25 discount and moved the date forward.

1 A copy of the amendment has been
2 circulated to all members of the
3 Committee. I move that the amendment
4 to Bill No. 220531 be approved.

5 COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Second.

6 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
7 Thank you. It's been moved and
8 properly seconded that the amendment
9 to Bill No. 220531 be approved.

10 All in favor of the motion
11 will signify by saying aye.

12 (Aye.)

13 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
14 Those opposed?

15 (Nay.)

16 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
17 All right. We got a lot of background
18 noise. Somebody is really -- let's do
19 this again.

20 All those in favor?

21 (Aye.)

22 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
23 Those opposed?

24 (Nay.)

25 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

1 All right. We're going to have to do
2 a roll call.

3 COUNCILWOMAN GAUTHIER:

4 Mr. Chair --

5 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Isn't
6 this the amendment to reduce it?

7 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

8 I'm sorry. Councilman Squilla.

9 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Yeah,
10 I'm sorry. Point of information.
11 Isn't this for the amendment to reduce
12 it from 5 to 2? I'm not sure if --

13 COUNCILMAN OH: Yes, correct.

14 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: All
15 right. It's not to pass the bill.
16 All right. Okay.

17 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

18 Yeah, it's an amendment to reduce it
19 from 5 to 2.

20 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: It's not
21 (inaudible). Okay.

22 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

23 It's not.

24 Councilwoman Gauthier, did
25 you have something or somebody else --

1 COUNCILWOMAN GAUTHIER: I
2 just want to also clarify we're voting
3 on the amendment. We're not voting --
4 the motion is about the amendment, not
5 to report it --

6 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
7 Not to report it out of Committee,
8 correct.

9 All right. Well, I still
10 couldn't get an accurate count. So
11 we're going to have to -- we want to
12 do that over again or we need to do
13 roll call.

14 Councilman Oh, do you want a
15 roll call?

16 COUNCILMAN OH: I don't think
17 so. It's kind of fuzzy hearing quite
18 frankly.

19 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
20 Yeah, we're having some challenges.

21 COUNCILMAN OH: If you want
22 to do a roll call, I'm fine with that.

23 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
24 It's not (inaudible) --

25 COUNCILWOMAN QUINONES-

1 SANCHEZ: Can I get a point of
2 information and you explain this
3 latest amendment?

4 COUNCILMAN OH: Yeah. I
5 spoke with the School District, Uri
6 Monson, and the conversation I had
7 with him was very reasonable. They
8 asked for a 2 percent -- no greater
9 than 2 percent which significantly
10 reduces the amount that they would
11 forego. I on the other hand have
12 serious issues with the amount based
13 on the assessments.

14 However, moving the date up
15 to December 31st a year prior
16 satisfies a cash flow issue for them,
17 and that's the reason they made the
18 request. And I think it was
19 reasonable, so that's what I did.

20 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
21 And the Administration's position, if
22 I may ask?

23 COUNCILMAN OH: I have not
24 heard from the Administration. And
25 the amendment just occurred after the

1 conversation at about 6 o'clock this
2 evening.

3 COUNCILMAN DRISCOLL: Okay.
4 When do the bills go out? Isn't it
5 right around New Year's?

6 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
7 Yes.

8 COUNCILMAN DRISCOLL: And the
9 new date is December 31st. It seems
10 like a problematic --

11 COUNCILMAN OH: Yeah, I think
12 it's based on the assessments that
13 they receive and the fact that they're
14 for those that are able to pay it
15 December 31st.

16 COUNCILMAN DRISCOLL: Don't
17 you have to get a bill before you pay
18 it?

19 COUNCILMAN OH: Yeah. I
20 mean, that's their request and --

21 COUNCILMAN DRISCOLL: Yeah,
22 but I mean I'm not sure they know how
23 late that bill goes out or maybe they
24 do know and then it won't cost them
25 anything. I'm just --

1 COUNCILMAN OH: Yeah --

2 COUNCILMAN DRISCOLL: I'm

3 not --

4 COUNCILMAN OH: No, I'm

5 looking for the language of the bill,

6 the amendment itself. It will be

7 assessed and payable within 20 days of

8 the date of mailing of the tax bill of

9 2 percent shall be allowed. So 20

10 days is the date of mailing.

11 COUNCILWOMAN GYM:

12 Councilmember Oh, could you clarify

13 that the District told you that they

14 wanted this at 2 percent?

15 COUNCILMAN OH: They did not

16 say they wanted it. They requested

17 a -- to be clear, they did not say

18 they favor the early discount. They

19 requested that the early discount in

20 my bill be amended from 5 percent to

21 no greater than 2 percent and to move

22 the time up earlier than a month. And

23 I think the language is 20 days after

24 mailing of the tax bill.

25 COUNCILWOMAN GYM: Thank you.

1 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

2 Okay. All right.

3 Any other questions for the
4 Councilman --

5 COUNCILMAN GREEN: One other
6 question. Point of --

7 COUNCILWOMAN QUINONES-

8 SANCHEZ: Yes. What is the cost --

9 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
10 Chair recognizes --

11 COUNCILWOMAN QUINONES-

12 SANCHEZ: -- mechanism to this?

13 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
14 Hold, hold, hold. Chair recognizes
15 Councilman Green.

16 COUNCILMAN GREEN: Yes.
17 Point of information. Councilmember
18 Oh, what is the impact of this
19 amendment to 2 percent on the
20 five-year plan and the bills that have
21 already been passed?

22 COUNCILMAN OH: There's a
23 five-year plan I would have to guess.
24 What it does is 5 percent is roughly
25 39.2 million in total. 2 percent is

1 158.66 million in total. 7.04 million
2 on the City. 8.56 million on the
3 School. The earlier payment of the
4 taxes to pay the discount provides the
5 School District with cash flow that
6 they say will contribute to offsetting
7 this and provide needed cash flow.

8 That's the statements of Uri Monson.

9 And based on that conversation, I've
10 amended the bill in that fashion.

11 COUNCILMAN GREEN: One last
12 follow-up, Council President.

13 And were any of those numbers
14 verified by the Administration?

15 COUNCILMAN OH: No.

16 COUNCILMAN GREEN: -- the
17 impact on the five-year plan? I'm
18 sorry?

19 COUNCILMAN OH: No. Those
20 numbers are the numbers that were
21 calculated by my staff and I'm not
22 sure if they received feedback from
23 the Administration. And I apologize,
24 but we did that at their request after
25 6 o'clock. So my staff was in City

1 Hall, but we all left to be virtual
2 here.

3 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
4 Councilwoman Quinones-Sanchez, you had
5 a question?

6 COUNCILWOMAN QUINONES-
7 SANCHEZ: I wanted an impact
8 statement. I think early payments has
9 been something that has been extremely
10 popular. I know that we've made
11 financial decisions about eliminating
12 them. If I knew what the impact was,
13 I'm in a better position to say you
14 should do it. I'm trying to support
15 my colleague here, but without an
16 impact analysis it's hard.

17 So thank you, Council
18 President.

19 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
20 Thank you, Councilwoman.

21 Okay. We're going to try
22 this one more time, the vote on the
23 amendment. The sponsor called for a
24 motion on the amendment to Bill No.
25 220531. It was seconded.

1 All in favor?

2 COUNCILMAN OH: Aye.

3 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

4 Those opposed?

5 COUNCILMAN GREEN: Nay.

6 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

7 That's one nay.

8 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: No.

9 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

10 Come on, guys.

11 COUNCILMAN JONES: Nay.

12 COUNCILMAN DOMB: Aye.

13 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE: I

14 didn't realize this would be this

15 tough. I should have done a roll

16 call.

17 COUNCILMAN OH: Well, I'll

18 request a roll call just to get

19 through this.

20 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

21 There you go. Thank you. The sponsor

22 requests a roll call.

23 COUNCILMAN OH: Yes. Thank

24 you.

25 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

1 Mr. McDermott, call the roll.

2 THE CLERK: Councilmember

3 Bass.

4 COUNCILWOMAN BASS: No.

5 THE CLERK: Councilmember

6 Brooks.

7 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS: No.

8 THE CLERK: Councilmember

9 Domb.

10 COUNCILMAN DOMB: Aye.

11 THE CLERK: Councilmember

12 Driscoll.

13 COUNCILMAN DRISCOLL: Aye.

14 THE CLERK: Councilmember

15 Gauthier.

16 COUNCILWOMAN GAUTHIER: Nay.

17 THE CLERK: Councilmember

18 Gilmore Richardson.

19 COUNCILWOMAN GILMORE

20 RICHARDSON: Nay.

21 THE CLERK: Councilmember

22 Green.

23 COUNCILMAN GREEN: Nay.

24 THE CLERK: Councilmember

25 Gym.

1 COUNCILWOMAN GYM: No.

2 THE CLERK: Councilmember

3 Johnson.

4 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Aye.

5 THE CLERK: Councilmember

6 Jones.

7 COUNCILMEMBER JONES: No.

8 THE CLERK: Councilmember

9 O'Neill.

10 (Background
11 interruption.)

12 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

13 Hold on, hold on --

14 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL: Aye.

15 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE: --

16 there's like some serious noise going
17 on in the background. Can we figure
18 that out? It almost sounds like a
19 racetrack.

20 COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: North

21 Philly came out.

22 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

23 I'm sorry. It's just late, you know.

24 THE CLERK: Councilmember

25 Jones said nay and then Councilmember

1 O'Neill I believe said aye.

2 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

3 Okay.

4 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL: Correct.

5 THE CLERK: Councilman Oh.

6 COUNCILMAN OH: Aye.

7 THE CLERK: Councilmember

8 Parker.

9 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: No.

10 THE CLERK: Councilmember

11 Quinones-Sanchez.

12 COUNCILWOMAN QUINONES-

13 SANCHEZ: Aye.

14 THE CLERK: Councilmember

15 Squilla.

16 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Aye.

17 THE CLERK: Councilmember

18 Thomas.

19 COUNCILMAN THOMAS: I just

20 want to note for the record before I

21 take my vote that this is something

22 that we feel like can be somewhat

23 beneficial to incentivize people to

24 pay their taxes a little early, so I'm

25 going to go ahead and vote aye.

1 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

2 And, Council President Clarke.

3 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

4 Nay.

5 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

6 These are 7, 8, 9 -- nays are 9. The
7 amendment fails. All right. So no
8 need to --

9 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Point of
10 information, Council President.

11 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
12 Chair recognizes Councilman Squilla.

13 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: All
14 right. I mean, it failed. So we have
15 to vote again on this at 5 percent
16 next time because the amendment was to
17 reduce it to 2 percent. So next time
18 we have to vote on it that it stays at
19 5 percent. Just a point of
20 information.

21 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE: To
22 the sponsor, Councilman, do you wish
23 to have a vote on 5 percent since the
24 amendment failed?

25 COUNCILMAN OH: No, I think

1 there would be no point in that.

2 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Okay.

3 Thank you.

4 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

5 Okay. Thank you, Councilman Squilla.

6 Thank you, Councilman Oh.

7 Okay. With that vote, that
8 concludes our meeting. I'll note for
9 the record that Bill Nos. 220240,
10 220411, 220421, 220455 and Resolution
11 No. 220300 are being held. This
12 concludes the business before the
13 Committee --

14 COUNCILWOMAN GYM: Council
15 President.

16 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
17 Chair recognizes Councilwoman Gym.

18 COUNCILWOMAN GYM: Thank you
19 very much. Thank you. I just wanted
20 before we concluded just to make a
21 very brief set of remarks because it's
22 very late and I don't want to hold
23 folks.

24 There is much in these
25 amendments that are to be praised, in

1 particular looking at for the need of
2 our long-term residents making
3 much-needed adjustments to LOOP,
4 providing relief for seniors. There's
5 no question that that was an urgent
6 issue for us to do and I'm glad that
7 we have a Council body that dedicated
8 the time to it.

9 I would like to clarify
10 however why I'm a no vote on the wage
11 and business tax cuts that were
12 presented before us today. At a time
13 when our schools are in urgent need of
14 staff in new buildings, when gun
15 violence and mental health and trauma
16 are at an all-time high and we have
17 not done enough for housing the
18 homeless as much as we have tried to
19 do, quite frankly I feel that we have
20 spent far too much time catering to
21 powerful interests in the Chamber
22 rather than the 100,000 families in
23 the School District of Philadelphia
24 who need us to find solutions, giving
25 some of the changes in the Homestead

1 exemption. That should be a priority
2 for us.

3 Last year when Council was
4 faced with a slew of last-minute tax
5 cuts, I had proposed a tax commission
6 that would review our taxes and
7 subsidies and propose meaningful
8 changes that wouldn't repeat the same
9 incremental efforts that aren't moving
10 the needle nearly enough and which
11 would center what we all know to be
12 true, which is that equity and growth
13 are inextricably linked. A vote
14 against these tax cuts has nothing to
15 do with being pro or anti-business.
16 It's asking our body to be serious
17 about revitalizing our City and to
18 make bold and targeted investments.

19 Targeted relief could have
20 been taking the projected \$11 million
21 in BIRT money annually and
22 establishing a fund within some
23 departments for small local businesses
24 and neighborhoods hardest hit by gun
25 violence to draw down from rather than

1 an across-the-board tax cut that's
2 shared proportionally equal by
3 mom-and-pop shops as Comcast.

4 It means putting federal
5 relief funding on the streets where
6 it's needed now, and it means
7 recognizing that our schools are
8 essential to the economic health of
9 our City. Targeted relief could have
10 been a millage shift or grant
11 allocation instead of marginal wage
12 tax cuts to actually provide some kind
13 of structural hold harmless for a
14 school district that is projected to
15 lay off hundreds of critical staff
16 members and still faces a structural
17 deficit, there is still a chance to do
18 more, to be targeted, to be creative
19 and to be the calvary, just not to
20 repeat the same structures of the past
21 that are simply not meeting the City's
22 needs and not responding to the City's
23 crisis, and that is why I was a no on
24 the wage and BIRT tax cuts.

25 Thank you for the opportunity

1 to speak, Council President.

2 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

3 Thank you, Councilwoman.

4 I think Councilwoman

5 Quinones-Sanchez, did you wish to make
6 a comment or is this old?

7 COUNCILWOMAN QUINONES-

8 SANCHEZ: No, I actually -- I'll wait
9 until we get to the Council side of
10 this. Thank you.

11 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

12 Okay. Chair recognizes Councilman
13 Jones.

14 COUNCILMAN JONES: (Muted).

15 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

16 You're on mute, Councilman.

17 COUNCILMAN JONES: Thank you,
18 Mr. President.

19 I rise tonight this late to
20 say that I appreciate the diversity of
21 this Council, not the diversity of
22 just ethnic nature and BIRT, but also
23 the diversity of thought and to
24 balance this out that this body does a
25 great deal for people in need. We are

1 constantly -- and I remember a
2 specific time when we were voting on
3 the extension to the relief to extend
4 the moratorium for evictions.

5 And I reached over, well,
6 virtually to my colleague and asked
7 are we going to be in the future just
8 as passionate for those in business,
9 those people who worked all their
10 lives to make investments to better
11 the lifestyles of their children and
12 to give them a break too. And I
13 remember when I cast that vote, the
14 answer was yes.

15 So I rise tonight to say I
16 want you to remember that promise that
17 small businesses, barbershops and
18 beauty salons are important
19 contributors to our City in so many
20 ways, not just by the money they bring
21 in for tax revenues, but by some of
22 the conflicts that they resolve in
23 their shops to our young people on a
24 daily basis.

25 I want to say that during the

1 pandemic a lot of those small
2 businesses suffered. If you go down
3 commercial corridors in my end of the
4 world, some of them have yet to
5 recover, 20 percent vacancies. And
6 every now and then, it's okay to be
7 balanced in our approach as
8 responsible stewards to be able to
9 give them a leg-up too. Because as I
10 go through my neighborhoods, they
11 depend on us just like people who are
12 their employees, just like people who
13 are their tenants to do the right
14 thing for them. And I think with this
15 BIRT and with the wage tax, we have
16 done it tonight.

17 Thank you, Mr. President.

18 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

19 Thank you, Councilman.

20 Chair recognizes Councilman
21 Green.

22 COUNCILMAN GREEN: Thank you,
23 Council President.

24 I will be brief. I want to
25 thank all colleagues of Council that

1 worked collectively to pass this
2 budget that we just did. It was not
3 easy because we had to deal with a
4 property tax assessment increase that
5 came to us from the Administration as
6 well as do some of the things that
7 Councilmember Jones talked about to
8 really help the small businesses in
9 the City of Philadelphia and also try
10 to provide some resources to our
11 constituents who are dealing with very
12 challenging times.

13 We see inflation rising. We
14 see the costs of goods going up and
15 try to balance all of these issues,
16 because this ultimately was a
17 compromise of multiple different
18 issues. Some people wanted more cuts
19 here, some people wanted more cuts
20 there. But ultimately, this body came
21 together as one to compromise to move
22 this City forward in efforts to
23 promote growth.

24 Ultimately, we know that the
25 biggest issue in our City is public

1 safety. We know we have a significant
2 gun crisis in our City, and I think
3 many people would agree that probably
4 the best anecdote to addressing public
5 safety is having a job. And the best
6 creators of jobs are small businesses.
7 I know I've given this statistic, but
8 I'll give it once again. For a City
9 that has 43 percent African American
10 population, 18 percent Latinx
11 population, the fact that only 6
12 percent of the businesses with
13 employees are owned by African
14 Americans and only 4 percent of
15 businesses of employees are owned by
16 our citizens of the Latin Diaspora, we
17 need to do something and it doesn't
18 have to be either or. It actually
19 needs to be both. I think this body
20 came together to recognize that to
21 move us forward.

22 Thank you, Council President.

23 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

24 Thank you, Councilman.

25 Chair recognizes Councilwoman

1 Gauthier.

2 COUNCILWOMAN GAUTHIER: Thank
3 you, Mr. President.

4 I first want to thank my
5 colleagues. I think this was a very
6 hard budget given that we're still
7 trying to climb out of a pandemic and
8 given the gun violence crisis and all
9 of it was complicated by the increase
10 in the property tax assessments.

11 I wanted to also talk about
12 my no vote on the tax cuts. For me I
13 couldn't in good conscience vote for a
14 set of business tax cuts that were so
15 broad and across the board. The tax
16 cuts were always sort of pitched to us
17 as a set of cuts that were about small
18 businesses and Black and Brown
19 businesses, but there was never real
20 acknowledgment that these are cuts
21 that would benefit much larger
22 businesses too.

23 I think at a time when we're
24 trying to rebound as a City, I wasn't
25 comfortable taking that revenue away

1 from City services and letting
2 businesses that can afford it off the
3 hook. And the Chamber has engaged us
4 a lot during this budget cycle. From
5 my very first meeting with the
6 Chamber, I made it clear that I do
7 support support for small businesses.
8 I do support support for Black and
9 Brown businesses. I don't support a
10 broad across-the-board tax cut. But
11 the proposal never changed from a
12 broad across-the-board tax cut. And
13 so, for me that's why it was a no.

14 If we were talking about
15 raising the exemption for small
16 businesses in the BIRT tax, if we were
17 talking about something specialized
18 and targeted for Black and Brown
19 businesses, it would have been a
20 different story for me. And then as
21 it relates to the wage tax, the cut
22 that we're making cost a lot to the
23 City if it's a very minuscule amount
24 of revenue or income in our residents'
25 pockets. So to me, it was an

1 expensive tax to give residents back
2 very little.

3 And so, that's why I did not
4 feel comfortable taking yes votes on
5 those items, particularly during this
6 time. But I thank my colleagues for
7 all of the work that we all did
8 collectively to get to this point and
9 I feel good about it, so thank you.

10 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

11 Thank you, Councilwoman.

12 Chair recognizes Councilman
13 Thomas.

14 COUNCILMAN THOMAS: Thank
15 you, Council President.

16 And of course similar to what
17 my colleagues said, I want to thank
18 everybody for their hard work as it
19 relates to the budget. The
20 negotiation process has been one
21 that's very strenuous, very difficult.
22 And we have all tried our best to put
23 ourselves in a position to move
24 Philadelphia forward in a way that we
25 can compete, right, not just with the

1 issues that we're facing as a
2 municipality, but also thinking about
3 our region, thinking about the
4 tristate area and thinking about the
5 entire Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

6 So when I think about my vote
7 today and I think about some of the
8 amendments that were introduced, I
9 think it's imperative that we send a
10 signal that Philadelphia is open for
11 business. When we look at the issues
12 that we're facing in the City of
13 Philadelphia, we have huge issues as
14 it relates to poverty. We have huge
15 issues as it relates to gun violence.

16 I said in a meeting today and
17 had an opportunity to listen to people
18 talk about some of the ills of our
19 municipality and one of the biggest
20 issues that we're facing is the issue
21 and the idea of how do we put people
22 in a position to provide a quality
23 living for themselves as well as their
24 family. When I think about all the
25 different concerns that we have as it

1 relates to this budget, I think it's
2 important that we recognize that a lot
3 of our businesses, especially our
4 Black and Brown businesses are
5 choosing to relocate out of the City
6 of Philadelphia and go to some of our
7 suburban counterparts and put
8 themselves in a position where they
9 can continue to generate revenue from
10 citizens in the City of Philadelphia
11 and put themselves in a position where
12 they're not paying taxes in the City
13 of Philadelphia.

14 So I think that a big part of
15 the work that we've done today is to
16 send a message that Philadelphia is
17 open for business. When we look at
18 the BIRT cuts specifically, the cut is
19 .21 percent, which at the end of the
20 day when we're talking about the total
21 revenue to the budget, especially with
22 the surplus that we're facing is not
23 going to impact a lot of the services
24 and programs that we care about.

25 But I think when we look at

1 the ramifications and the impact that
2 the decisions that we made today will
3 have on a future of our municipality,
4 it puts us in a position where we can
5 be more competitive with other
6 municipalities, with industries that
7 are choosing to not locate in
8 Philadelphia and try to thrive in the
9 City of Philadelphia.

10 So at the end of the day, we
11 have a lot more work to do as it
12 relates to the future of our City
13 coming out of a pandemic. We have to
14 recognize that we're competing not
15 just with our surrounding regions, but
16 we're competing with people all across
17 the country as people can work
18 remotely and do things in a capacity
19 and a way that we've never seen
20 before.

21 I'll close out by saying I
22 had the opportunity and privilege to
23 speak at a number of different
24 graduation ceremonies this year, and
25 one of the things that I told the

1 parents at the graduation ceremony is
2 that we're no longer in the era in
3 time where we can tell high school
4 students that at 18 it's time for you
5 to move out and get your own.

6 Technology, COVID and inflation has
7 changed the world forever. And if
8 we're not going to try to adapt with
9 the moving economy and with the
10 changing world, we're going to
11 continue to trend like Detroit and
12 other cities that are not moving into
13 the space and the place where they're
14 doing things in the best interest of
15 all constituents of their
16 municipality, but especially those
17 Black and Brown entrepreneurs.

18 Here in the City of
19 Philadelphia, Black and Brown
20 populations -- Black and Brown people
21 are about 40 percent of the
22 population. But unfortunately, we're
23 less than 5 percent of the businesses
24 in this municipality. So I take it as
25 a badge of honor to put myself in a

1 position to do everything that we can
2 to grow Black and Brown businesses in
3 the City of Philadelphia and allow
4 those businesses and industries to be
5 as competitive here as they are in
6 other cities.

7 Thank you, Council President,
8 and thank you, colleagues. It's been
9 a pleasure to work with you and I look
10 forward to continuing to work with you
11 on a number of different initiatives.
12 Thank you, Council President.

13 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:
14 Thank you, Councilman.

15 And I'm actually not the
16 presiding officer over the Council
17 session so I can actually talk today.
18 So I just want to thank everybody for
19 their hard work. I do want to remind
20 the general public that the budget is
21 not done until we take the final vote
22 on the 23rd, but this is obviously the
23 framework for that particular vote.

24 I want to thank everybody.
25 This is a challenging time as we said

1 earlier. It was projected to be a 4
2 to 5 percent real estate assessment
3 increase and we ended up with a 32,
4 right, citywide, which is way beyond
5 anybody's expectation, so that really
6 created a significant challenge for
7 people trying to be in a position to
8 provide enough support measures for
9 individual property owners in
10 particular.

11 The issue with respect to our
12 ability to do other things, i.e.
13 support for schools and support for
14 businesses and putting money back in
15 the taxpayer's pocket, i.e., wage tax
16 is always a challenging thing when you
17 have to deal with the many things that
18 we have to deal with from an
19 operational side. So I think we
20 addressed all those issues, not nearly
21 enough. But at the end of the day, I
22 want to thank you all for your hard
23 work, your continued presence. I had
24 to charge up my phone like five times
25 a day based on the phone calls, but

1 it's all good.

2 I do want to just say one
3 thing for the record. In the
4 operating budget, it was a measure
5 that was put in because we do know
6 that in spite of whatever Homestead
7 that we do ultimately end up with,
8 there will still be some people that
9 will need some assistance in taxes.

10 So based on some
11 conversations with Councilwomen Parker
12 and Bass and Councilman Domb, we
13 decided to work with the
14 Administration to create a fund. It
15 hasn't been named yet, but it's
16 essentially a homeowner's real estate
17 tax relief fund. So there's a \$2
18 million start-up placeholder during
19 the course of the year.

20 We will look to appropriate a
21 significant amount of money in that so
22 even after Homestead, even after LOOP,
23 any other particular measure that
24 people may choose, there will still be
25 some challenges throughout our City.

1 So we want to make sure that we
2 establish that fund and help people
3 with their real estate taxes, because
4 one thing that we cannot allow to have
5 happen is a person be in a position
6 where they may lose their home as a
7 result of something that we did based
8 on a record-breaking assessment that
9 was actually bigger than AVI.

10 So I want to thank all of
11 you. We look forward to moving ahead
12 and doing what we have to do and
13 looking forward to the 23rd and we can
14 conclude this budget process, and then
15 we have to get out on the street based
16 on the money that was put in the
17 budget for Council to do the outreach.
18 We have to do a very aggressive
19 outreach to make sure that everybody
20 applies.

21 COUNCILWOMAN QUINONES-

22 SANCHEZ: We are the best city when it
23 has to go, we have to go to the ground
24 and do all the work. We are the best
25 city, so we're not going to lose that.

1 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

2 Door-to-door, right.

3 COUNCILWOMAN QUINONES-

4 SANCHEZ: Yup.

5 COUNCIL PRESIDENT CLARKE:

6 Guys, thank you. Thank you all so

7 much. And with that, this concludes

8 the business before the Committee of

9 the Whole today. I'll see you all in

10 the morning. Thank you.

11 COUNCILWOMAN GILMORE

12 RICHARDSON: Thank you. Thank you,

13 CP.

14 COUNCILWOMAN GAUTHIER: Thank

15 you, Council President.

16 COUNCILWOMAN PARKER: Thank

17 you, Mr. President.

18 COUNCILWOMAN QUINONES-

19 SANCHEZ: Thank you, Mr. President.

20 COUNCILMAN DOMB: Thank you.

21 COUNCILMAN SQUILLA: Thank

22 you all. Have a great night.

23 (Committee of the Whole

24 concluded at 11:06 p.m.)

25

1 C E R T I F I C A T I O N

2

3 I, hereby certify that the
4 proceedings and evidence noted are contained
5 fully and accurately in the stenographic notes
6 taken by me in the foregoing matter, and that
7 this is a correct transcript of the same.

8

9

10

11

TANEHA CARROLL
Court Reporter - Notary Public

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

(The foregoing certification of
19 this transcript does not apply to any
20 reproduction of the same by any means, unless
21 under the direct control and/or supervision
22 of the certifying reporter.)

23

24

25

<u>WORD</u> <u>INDEX</u>					
< \$ >	23:5, 17, 20	< 4 >	afternoon 5:7,	64:23 72:21	authorized
\$11 56:20	24:5	4 62:14 71:1	8, 10	analysis 48:16	10:14 13:11
\$2 72:17	220287 1:1	40 69:21	aggressive	and/or 75:21	AVI 73:9
	7:21 9:2	43 62:9	73:18	anecdote 62:4	aye 17:22, 23
< 1 >	24:23 25:1, 13		agree 62:3	announce	19:4, 5 20:6, 7
10:10 1:1	220288 1:1	< 5 >	Agreement	13:18	21:12, 13 23:7,
100,000 55:22	7:21 9:10	5 39:23 41:12,	13:11	announcement	8 24:13, 14
10-1001 9:3	26:6, 9, 19	19 45:20	ahead 52:25	2:15	25:21, 22 27:2,
11:06 74:24	220300 1:1	46:24 53:15,	73:11	annually 56:21	3 28:3, 4
15 1:1	7:24 12:23	19, 23 69:23	ALLAN 1:1	answer 59:14	29:10, 11
158.66 47:1	54:11	71:2	allocation	anti-business	30:18, 19
18 62:10 69:4	220410 1:1		11:20 57:11	56:15	31:25 32:1
19 11:2	7:21 9:22	< 6 >	allow 70:3	anybody's 71:5	33:5, 6 34:12,
19-1301 8:4	27:13, 17, 20	6 44:1 47:25	73:4	apologize	13 35:22, 23
11:11	28:1, 10, 14, 17	62:11	allowed 45:9	47:23	37:3, 4 38:2, 3
19-1301.1 10:3	29:2		all-time 55:16	appeal 10:22	39:6, 7 40:11,
19-1303 10:17	220411 1:1	< 7 >	amended 18:8,	appeals 10:24	12, 21 49:2, 12
19-1403 9:11	7:21 10:2	7 53:6	12, 22 20:16,	application	50:10, 13 51:4,
19-1500 9:23	54:10	7.04 47:1	20 21:5 23:17,	12:15	14 52:1, 6, 13,
19-2600 8:10	220412 1:1		21 24:6 28:14,	applies 73:20	16, 25
11:17	7:22 10:8	< 8 >	18 29:3 31:4,	apply 11:6	ayes 18:3
19-2900 11:2	30:3, 7, 10, 16	8 53:6	8, 18 36:7, 11,	75:19	19:10 20:12
12:9	31:1, 4, 7, 17	8.56 47:2	21 38:10, 14,	apportionment	21:18 23:13
19-300 12:18	220413 1:1		24 45:20	11:20	24:19 26:2
19-3900 10:9	7:22 10:16	< 9 >	47:10	appreciate	27:8 28:9
11:25	32:10, 13, 23	9 53:6	amending 8:4,	58:20	29:24 30:24
1992 13:13	220421 1:1		9 9:3, 11, 22	approach 60:7	32:6 33:11
	7:22 11:1	< A >	10:2, 8, 16	appropriate	36:3 37:9
	54:10	ability 71:12	11:1, 10, 16, 24	2:10 72:20	38:5 39:12
	220455 1:1	able 44:14	12:8, 17	approval 12:24	
	7:22 11:10	60:8	amendment	approved	< B >
< 2 >	54:10	accurate 42:10	17:5, 8, 10, 12,	17:15, 20 18:5	back 13:19
2 39:24 41:12,	220485 1:1	accurately	14, 19 18:4	19:21 20:4	65:1 71:14
19 43:8, 9	7:23 11:16	75:1	19:14, 17, 18,	22:25 23:5	background
45:9, 14, 21	33:15, 18 34:4	acknowledgmen	21 20:3 22:17,	27:21 28:1, 11	40:17 51:10,
46:19, 25	220497 1:1	t 63:20	20, 21, 24 23:4	30:11, 16 31:1	17
53:17	7:23 11:24	across-the-	27:12, 16, 17,	35:15, 20	badge 69:25
20 45:7, 9, 23	35:5, 9, 14, 20	board 57:1	20, 25 28:10	37:20, 25 38:7	balance 58:24
60:5	36:7, 10, 20	64:10, 12	30:3, 6, 7, 10,	40:4, 9	61:15
200012 1:1	220499 1:1	action 14:7	15, 25 35:4, 8,	area 66:4	balanced 60:7
7:20 8:3 17:5,	7:23 12:8	adapt 69:8	10, 12, 14, 19	areas 8:17	barbershops
9, 14, 20 18:5,	37:13, 17, 19,	Additions	37:13, 16, 19,	asked 43:8	59:17
8, 11, 21	25 38:6, 10, 13,	10:19, 20	24 38:6 39:16,	59:6	based 10:23
2022 1:1 13:6	23	addressed	19, 20 40:1, 3,	asking 56:16	39:21 43:12
2023 9:1 13:4	220531 1:1	71:20	8 41:6, 11, 18	assessed 10:21	44:12 47:9
2027 13:4	7:23 12:17	addressing	42:3, 4 43:3,	45:7	71:25 72:10
21 67:19	39:16, 20 40:4,	62:4	25 45:6 46:19	assessment	73:7, 15
210284 1:1	9 48:25	adjustments	48:23, 24 53:7,	61:4 71:2	basis 59:24
7:20 8:9	23rd 70:22	55:3	16, 24	73:8	BASS 1:1
19:14, 18, 21	73:13	Administration	amendments	assessments	3:10, 11 14:18,
20:3, 16, 19		43:24 47:14,	14:10 54:25	10:24 43:13	19 40:5 50:3,
21:4	< 3 >	23 61:5 72:14	66:8	44:12 63:10	4 72:12
220240 1:1	3 13:13	Administration'	American 62:9	assistance 72:9	beauty 59:18
7:20 8:15	31st 43:15	s 43:21	Americans	associated 14:9	believe 52:1
54:9	44:9, 15	adopting 8:25	62:14	attendance	beneficial
220284 1:1	32 71:3	af 5:2	amount 8:6	3:6, 7 14:14,	52:23
220286 1:1	39.2 46:25	afford 64:2	10:5 11:13	15	benefit 63:21
7:20 8:24		African 62:9,	43:10, 12	Authority	best 2:10
22:17, 21, 24		13		13:9, 14	62:4, 5 65:22

69:14 73:22, 24 better 48:13 59:10 beyond 71:4 big 67:14 bigger 73:9 biggest 61:25 66:19 Bill 7:19 8:3, 9, 15, 24 9:2, 10, 22 10:2, 8, 16 11:1, 10, 16, 24 12:8, 17 17:5, 9, 14, 20 18:4, 8, 11, 16, 21 19:1, 14, 17, 21 20:3, 16, 19, 24 21:4, 9, 20 22:17, 20, 24 23:4, 17, 20, 25 24:5, 10, 23 25:1, 6, 13, 18 26:6, 9, 14, 19, 24 27:12, 16, 20 28:1, 10, 14, 17, 22 29:2, 8 30:6, 10, 15, 25 31:4, 7, 12, 17, 22 32:10, 13, 18, 23 33:2, 15, 18, 23 34:4, 9 35:5, 9, 14, 20 36:7, 10, 15, 20, 25 37:13, 16, 19, 25 38:6, 10, 13, 18, 23 39:3, 16, 19 40:4, 9 41:15 44:17, 23 45:5, 8, 20, 24 47:10 48:24 54:9 BILLS 1:1 8:1 44:4 46:20 BIRT 56:21 57:24 58:22 60:15 64:16 67:18 Black 63:18 64:8, 18 67:4 69:17, 19, 20 70:2 blighted 9:16 board 63:15 body 55:7 56:16 58:24 61:20 62:19	bold 56:18 break 59:12 BRIAN 1:1 brief 54:21 60:24 briefly 13:17 bring 59:20 broad 63:15 64:10, 12 BROOKS 1:1 3:17, 18 14:23, 24 22:9, 10, 12 29:21, 22 34:20 50:6, 7 Brown 63:18 64:9, 18 67:4 69:17, 19, 20 70:2 budget 8:16, 25 14:8 61:2 63:6 64:4 65:19 67:1, 21 70:20 72:4 73:14, 17 buildings 55:14 Business 8:11 11:18 54:12 55:11 59:8 63:14 66:11 67:17 74:8 businesses 56:23 59:17 60:2 61:8 62:6, 12, 15 63:18, 19, 22 64:2, 7, 9, 16, 19 67:3, 4 69:23 70:2, 4 71:14 < C > calculated 47:21 call 3:6 14:13 41:2 42:13, 15, 22 49:16, 18, 22 50:1 called 7:17 13:19 48:23 calls 71:25 calvary 57:19 cap 10:13 capacity 68:18 care 67:24 carries 18:4 19:10 20:13 21:22 23:14 24:20 26:3	27:8 28:9 29:25 30:25 32:7 33:12 36:4 37:10 38:5 39:13 CARROLL 75:11 cash 43:16 47:5, 7 cast 59:13 catering 55:20 center 56:11 ceremonies 68:24 ceremony 69:1 certain 8:7, 12, 13 9:6, 8, 20, 25 10:1, 6, 15, 24, 25 11:8, 14, 22 12:6, 15, 21 certification 75:18 certify 75:1 certifying 75:22 CHAIR 1:1 17:3 18:6 19:12, 24 20:14 22:15 23:15 24:21 26:4 27:10 28:12 30:1 31:2 32:8 33:13 34:21 35:2 36:5 37:11 38:8, 12 39:14 41:4 46:10, 14 53:12 54:17 58:12 60:20 62:25 65:12 Chairman 17:7 18:10 22:19 23:19 24:25 26:8 27:15 28:16 30:5 31:6 32:12 33:17 35:7 36:9 37:15 39:18 challenge 71:6 challenges 42:20 72:25 challenging 61:12 70:25 71:16 Chamber 55:21 64:3, 6 chance 57:17	changed 64:11 69:7 changes 2:7 9:20 13:5 55:25 56:8 changing 69:10 Chapter 8:10 10:9 11:2 12:9, 18 charge 71:24 CHERELLE 1:1 children 59:11 choose 72:24 choosing 67:5 68:7 CINDY 1:1 circulated 17:12 19:19 22:22 27:18 30:8 35:12 40:2 cities 69:12 70:6 Citizen 11:4 12:10 citizens 62:16 67:10 CITY 1:1 2:17 3:13 8:18 9:17 11:22 12:25 13:2, 14 47:2, 25 56:17 57:9 59:19 61:9, 22, 25 62:2, 8 63:24 64:1, 23 66:12 67:5, 10, 12 68:9, 12 69:18 70:3 72:25 73:22, 25 City's 57:21, 22 citywide 71:4 clarify 42:2 45:12 55:9 CLARKE 1:1 2:2 3:14, 20 4:2, 8, 14, 21 5:9, 21, 23 6:4, 10 7:3, 10, 13, 14 13:15 14:1 16:24, 25 17:17, 24 18:2, 19 19:6, 9, 23 20:8, 11 21:2, 14, 17 22:3, 7, 11 23:2, 9, 12	24:3, 15, 18 25:9, 23 26:1, 17 27:4, 7, 23 28:5, 8, 25 29:12, 15, 20, 23 30:13, 20, 23 31:15 32:2, 5, 21 33:7, 10 34:2, 14, 17, 24 35:17, 24 36:2, 18 37:5, 8, 22 38:4, 21 39:8, 11 40:6, 13, 16, 22, 25 41:7, 17, 22 42:6, 19, 23 43:20 44:6 46:1, 9, 13 48:3, 19 49:3, 6, 9, 13, 20, 25 51:12, 15, 22 52:2 53:1, 2, 3, 5, 11, 21 54:4, 16 58:2, 11, 15 60:18 62:23 65:10 70:13 74:1, 5 cleanliness 8:21 clear 45:17 64:6 CLERK 3:9, 16, 22 4:4, 10, 16, 23 5:4, 13, 18, 25 6:6, 12, 17, 23 7:5, 12 8:3 14:17, 22 15:1, 5, 9, 13, 17, 20, 23 16:1, 4, 7, 9, 13, 17, 20, 23 50:2, 5, 8, 11, 14, 17, 21, 24 51:2, 5, 8, 24 52:5, 7, 10, 14, 17 climb 63:7 close 5:11 68:21 Code 8:5, 11 9:4, 12, 24 10:4, 10, 18 11:3, 12, 18 12:1, 10, 19 colleague 48:15 59:6 colleagues 3:12 4:1, 7, 20 5:3, 8, 17, 22 6:9, 16, 21 7:2,	9 60:25 63:5 65:6, 17 70:8 collectively 61:1 65:8 Comcast 57:3 come 3:4 49:10 comfortable 63:25 65:4 coming 68:13 comment 58:6 comments 13:23 commercial 60:3 commission 56:5 Commissioner 9:5 COMMITTEE 1:1 7:19 13:24 14:3, 6 17:11, 13 18:13, 23 19:20 20:21 21:6 22:23 23:22 24:7 25:2, 14 26:10, 20 27:19 28:19 29:4 30:9 31:9, 19 32:14, 24 33:19 34:5 35:11, 13 36:12, 22 38:15, 25 40:3 42:7 54:13 74:8, 23 Committees 2:17, 23 Commonwealth 66:5 Community 8:19 compete 65:25 competing 68:14, 16 competitive 68:5 70:5 complicated 63:9 compromise 61:17, 21 concerns 66:25 conclude 73:14 concluded 54:20 74:24
--	--	--	--	--	--

concludes 14:5 54:8, 12 74:7	16, 23 20:8, 11, 18, 23, 25 21:2, 8, 10, 14, 17	39:17 41:5, 8, 9, 13, 14, 20 42:14, 16, 21	24:24 26:7 27:14, 22 28:15, 24	Daily 2:25 59:24	DOMB 1:1 3:23, 24 15:2, 3 49:12 50:9, 10 72:12 74:20
conditions 8:8, 14 9:9, 21 10:1, 7, 15, 25 11:9, 15, 23 12:7, 16, 22	22:3, 7, 11 23:2, 9, 12, 24 24:1, 3, 9, 11, 15, 18 25:4, 7, 9, 16, 19, 23	43:4, 23 44:3, 8, 11, 16, 19, 21 45:1, 2, 4, 15 46:4, 5, 15, 16, 22 47:11, 15, 16, 19 49:2, 5, 11, 12, 17, 23	22 30:4 31:5 32:11 33:16 34:19, 20, 22, 23, 25 35:16 36:17 37:21 38:20 40:5	DARRELL 1:1 date 39:25 43:14 44:9 45:8, 10	Door-to-door 74:2
conflicts 59:22	26:1, 12, 15, 17, 22, 25 27:4, 7, 23 28:5, 8, 21, 23, 25 29:6, 8, 12, 15, 20, 23	50:10, 13, 23 51:4, 14, 20 52:4, 5, 6, 16, 19 53:9, 12, 13, 22, 25 54:2, 5, 6 58:12, 14, 16, 17 60:19, 20, 22 62:24	41:3, 24 42:1, 25 45:11, 25 46:7, 11 48:4, 6, 20 49:8 50:4, 7, 16, 19 51:1 52:9, 12 54:14, 17, 18 58:3, 4, 7	DAVID 1:1 day 5:3 67:20 68:10 71:21, 25	draw 56:25
conscience 63:13	23 28:5, 8, 21, 23, 25 29:6, 8, 12, 15, 20, 23 30:13, 20, 23 31:11, 13, 15, 21, 23 32:2, 5, 16, 19, 21 33:1, 3, 7, 10, 21, 24	70:14 72:12 74:20, 21	62:25 63:2 65:11 73:21 74:3, 11, 14, 16, 18	days 45:7, 10, 23	DRISCOLL 1:1 4:5, 6 15:6, 7 44:3, 8, 16, 21 45:2 50:12, 13 Due 2:15 10:23
consider 14:7	34:2, 7, 10, 14, 17, 24 35:17, 24 36:2, 14, 16, 18, 24 37:1, 5, 8, 22 38:4, 17, 19, 21 39:2, 4, 8, 11 40:6, 13, 16, 22, 25 41:7, 17, 22 42:6, 19, 23 43:20 44:6	Councilmember 3:9, 16, 22 4:4, 10, 16, 23 5:4, 13, 18, 25 6:6, 12, 17, 23 7:5 14:17, 22 15:1, 5, 9, 13, 17, 20, 23 16:1, 4, 7, 9, 13, 17, 20 17:4 18:7 19:13, 25 20:15 22:2, 4, 6, 10, 16 23:16 24:22 26:5 27:11 28:13 30:2 31:3 32:9 33:14 35:3 36:6 37:12 38:9 39:15 45:12 46:17 50:2, 5, 8, 11, 14, 17, 21, 24 51:2, 5, 7, 8, 24, 25 52:7, 10, 14, 17 61:7	Councilwomen 72:11 count 42:10 counterparts 67:7 country 68:17 County 9:14 course 65:16 72:19 Court 75:12 covering 13:3 COVID 69:6 COVID-19 2:17 CP 74:13 create 72:14 created 71:6 creating 9:13 creative 57:18 creators 62:6 crisis 57:23 62:2 63:8 critical 57:15 currently 2:18 CURTIS 1:1 cut 57:1 64:10, 12, 21 67:18 cuts 55:11 56:5, 14 57:12, 24 61:18, 19 63:12, 14, 16, 17, 20 67:18 cycle 64:4	deal 58:25 61:3 71:17, 18 dealing 2:8 61:11 December 43:15 44:9, 15 decided 72:13 decisions 2:11 48:11 68:2 dedicated 55:7 deeds 9:7 deficit 57:17 demolishing 9:16 Demolition 9:14 departments 13:19 56:23 depend 60:11 DEREK 1:1 Detroit 69:11 development 9:16 Diaspora 62:16 different 2:7 61:17 64:20 66:25 68:23 70:11 difficult 65:21 direct 75:21 discount 39:25 45:18, 19 47:4 Discounts 10:18 discussions 2:8 District 39:22 43:5 45:13 47:5 55:23 57:14 diversity 58:20, 21, 23 documents 9:8, 18 doing 69:14 73:12	< E > earlier 45:22 47:3 71:1 early 12:20 39:24 45:18, 19 48:8 52:24 easy 61:3 economic 9:15 57:8 economy 69:9 effective 2:11 efficient 2:11 efforts 56:9 61:22 either 62:18 eliminating 48:11 employees 60:12 62:13, 15 encourage 9:15 ended 71:3 engaged 64:3 enhance 8:22 entire 66:5 entitled 8:5, 11 9:4, 12, 24 10:4, 10, 18 11:3, 12, 18 12:1, 10, 19 entrepreneurs 69:17 equal 57:2 equity 56:12 era 69:2 especially 67:3, 21 69:16 essential 57:8 essentially 72:16 establish 12:20 73:2
constantly 59:1	30:13, 20, 23 31:11, 13, 15, 21, 23 32:2, 5, 16, 19, 21 33:1, 3, 7, 10, 21, 24 34:2, 7, 10, 14, 17, 24 35:17, 24 36:2, 14, 16, 18, 24 37:1, 5, 8, 22 38:4, 17, 19, 21 39:2, 4, 8, 11 40:6, 13, 16, 22, 25 41:7, 17, 22 42:6, 19, 23 43:20 44:6 46:1, 9, 13 47:12 48:3, 17, 19 49:3, 6, 9, 13, 20, 25 51:12, 15, 22 52:2 53:1, 2, 3, 5, 10, 11, 21 54:4, 14, 16 55:7 56:3 58:1, 2, 9, 11, 15, 21 60:18, 23, 25 62:22, 23 65:10, 15 70:7, 12, 13, 16 73:17 74:1, 5, 15	Councilmember 3:9, 16, 22 4:4, 10, 16, 23 5:4, 13, 18, 25 6:6, 12, 17, 23 7:5 14:17, 22 15:1, 5, 9, 13, 17, 20, 23 16:1, 4, 7, 9, 13, 17, 20 17:4 18:7 19:13, 25 20:15 22:2, 4, 6, 10, 16 23:16 24:22 26:5 27:11 28:13 30:2 31:3 32:9 33:14 35:3 36:6 37:12 38:9 39:15 45:12 46:17 50:2, 5, 8, 11, 14, 17, 21, 24 51:2, 5, 7, 8, 24, 25 52:7, 10, 14, 17 61:7	Councilwomen 72:11 count 42:10 counterparts 67:7 country 68:17 County 9:14 course 65:16 72:19 Court 75:12 covering 13:3 COVID 69:6 COVID-19 2:17 CP 74:13 create 72:14 created 71:6 creating 9:13 creative 57:18 creators 62:6 crisis 57:23 62:2 63:8 critical 57:15 currently 2:18 CURTIS 1:1 cut 57:1 64:10, 12, 21 67:18 cuts 55:11 56:5, 14 57:12, 24 61:18, 19 63:12, 14, 16, 17, 20 67:18 cycle 64:4	DOMB 1:1 3:23, 24 15:2, 3 49:12 50:9, 10 72:12 74:20 Door-to-door 74:2 draw 56:25 DRISCOLL 1:1 4:5, 6 15:6, 7 44:3, 8, 16, 21 45:2 50:12, 13 Due 2:15 10:23	< E > earlier 45:22 47:3 71:1 early 12:20 39:24 45:18, 19 48:8 52:24 easy 61:3 economic 9:15 57:8 economy 69:9 effective 2:11 efficient 2:11 efforts 56:9 61:22 either 62:18 eliminating 48:11 employees 60:12 62:13, 15 encourage 9:15 ended 71:3 engaged 64:3 enhance 8:22 entire 66:5 entitled 8:5, 11 9:4, 12, 24 10:4, 10, 18 11:3, 12, 18 12:1, 10, 19 entrepreneurs 69:17 equal 57:2 equity 56:12 era 69:2 especially 67:3, 21 69:16 essential 57:8 essentially 72:16 establish 12:20 73:2
constituents 61:11 69:15	30:13, 20, 23 31:11, 13, 15, 21, 23 32:2, 5, 16, 19, 21 33:1, 3, 7, 10, 21, 24 34:2, 7, 10, 14, 17, 24 35:17, 24 36:2, 14, 16, 18, 24 37:1, 5, 8, 22 38:4, 17, 19, 21 39:2, 4, 8, 11 40:6, 13, 16, 22, 25 41:7, 17, 22 42:6, 19, 23 43:20 44:6 46:1, 9, 13 47:12 48:3, 17, 19 49:3, 6, 9, 13, 20, 25 51:12, 15, 22 52:2 53:1, 2, 3, 5, 10, 11, 21 54:4, 14, 16 55:7 56:3 58:1, 2, 9, 11, 15, 21 60:18, 23, 25 62:22, 23 65:10, 15 70:7, 12, 13, 16 73:17 74:1, 5, 15	Councilmember 3:9, 16, 22 4:4, 10, 16, 23 5:4, 13, 18, 25 6:6, 12, 17, 23 7:5 14:17, 22 15:1, 5, 9, 13, 17, 20, 23 16:1, 4, 7, 9, 13, 17, 20 17:4 18:7 19:13, 25 20:15 22:2, 4, 6, 10, 16 23:16 24:22 26:5 27:11 28:13 30:2 31:3 32:9 33:14 35:3 36:6 37:12 38:9 39:15 45:12 46:17 50:2, 5, 8, 11, 14, 17, 21, 24 51:2, 5, 7, 8, 24, 25 52:7, 10, 14, 17 61:7	Councilwomen 72:11 count 42:10 counterparts 67:7 country 68:17 County 9:14 course 65:16 72:19 Court 75:12 covering 13:3 COVID 69:6 COVID-19 2:17 CP 74:13 create 72:14 created 71:6 creating 9:13 creative 57:18 creators 62:6 crisis 57:23 62:2 63:8 critical 57:15 currently 2:18 CURTIS 1:1 cut 57:1 64:10, 12, 21 67:18 cuts 55:11 56:5, 14 57:12, 24 61:18, 19 63:12, 14, 16, 17, 20 67:18 cycle 64:4	deal 58:25 61:3 71:17, 18 dealing 2:8 61:11 December 43:15 44:9, 15 decided 72:13 decisions 2:11 48:11 68:2 dedicated 55:7 deeds 9:7 deficit 57:17 demolishing 9:16 Demolition 9:14 departments 13:19 56:23 depend 60:11 DEREK 1:1 Detroit 69:11 development 9:16 Diaspora 62:16 different 2:7 61:17 64:20 66:25 68:23 70:11 difficult 65:21 direct 75:21 discount 39:25 45:18, 19 47:4 Discounts 10:18 discussions 2:8 District 39:22 43:5 45:13 47:5 55:23 57:14 diversity 58:20, 21, 23 documents 9:8, 18 doing 69:14 73:12	< E > earlier 45:22 47:3 71:1 early 12:20 39:24 45:18, 19 48:8 52:24 easy 61:3 economic 9:15 57:8 economy 69:9 effective 2:11 efficient 2:11 efforts 56:9 61:22 either 62:18 eliminating 48:11 employees 60:12 62:13, 15 encourage 9:15 ended 71:3 engaged 64:3 enhance 8:22 entire 66:5 entitled 8:5, 11 9:4, 12, 24 10:4, 10, 18 11:3, 12, 18 12:1, 10, 19 entrepreneurs 69:17 equal 57:2 equity 56:12 era 69:2 especially 67:3, 21 69:16 essential 57:8 essentially 72:16 establish 12:20 73:2
contained 75:1	30:13, 20, 23 31:11, 13, 15, 21, 23 32:2, 5, 16, 19, 21 33:1, 3, 7, 10, 21, 24 34:2, 7, 10, 14, 17, 24 35:17, 24 36:2, 14, 16, 18, 24 37:1, 5, 8, 22 38:4, 17, 19, 21 39:2, 4, 8, 11 40:6, 13, 16, 22, 25 41:7, 17, 22 42:6, 19, 23 43:20 44:6 46:1, 9, 13 47:12 48:3, 17, 19 49:3, 6, 9, 13, 20, 25 51:12, 15, 22 52:2 53:1, 2, 3, 5, 10, 11, 21 54:4, 14, 16 55:7 56:3 58:1, 2, 9, 11, 15, 21 60:18, 23, 25 62:22, 23 65:10, 15 70:7, 12, 13, 16 73:17 74:1, 5, 15	Councilmember 3:9, 16, 22 4:4, 10, 16, 23 5:4, 13, 18, 25 6:6, 12, 17, 23 7:5 14:17, 22 15:1, 5, 9, 13, 17, 20, 23 16:1, 4, 7, 9, 13, 17, 20 17:4 18:7 19:13, 25 20:15 22:2, 4, 6, 10, 16 23:16 24:22 26:5 27:11 28:13 30:2 31:3 32:9 33:14 35:3 36:6 37:12 38:9 39:15 45:12 46:17 50:2, 5, 8, 11, 14, 17, 21, 24 51:2, 5, 7, 8, 24, 25 52:7, 10, 14, 17 61:7	Councilwomen 72:11 count 42:10 counterparts 67:7 country 68:17 County 9:14 course 65:16 72:19 Court 75:12 covering 13:3 COVID 69:6 COVID-19 2:17 CP 74:13 create 72:14 created 71:6 creating 9:13 creative 57:18 creators 62:6 crisis 57:23 62:2 63:8 critical 57:15 currently 2:18 CURTIS 1:1 cut 57:1 64:10, 12, 21 67:18 cuts 55:11 56:5, 14 57:12, 24 61:18, 19 63:12, 14, 16, 17, 20 67:18 cycle 64:4	DOMB 1:1 3:23, 24 15:2, 3 49:12 50:9, 10 72:12 74:20 Door-to-door 74:2 draw 56:25 DRISCOLL 1:1 4:5, 6 15:6, 7 44:3, 8, 16, 21 45:2 50:12, 13 Due 2:15 10:23	< E > earlier 45:22 47:3 71:1 early 12:20 39:24 45:18, 19 48:8 52:24 easy 61:3 economic 9:15 57:8 economy 69:9 effective 2:11 efficient 2:11 efforts 56:9 61:22 either 62:18 eliminating 48:11 employees 60:12 62:13, 15 encourage 9:15 ended 71:3 engaged 64:3 enhance 8:22 entire 66:5 entitled 8:5, 11 9:4, 12, 24 10:4, 10, 18 11:3, 12, 18 12:1, 10, 19 entrepreneurs 69:17 equal 57:2 equity 56:12 era 69:2 especially 67:3, 21 69:16 essential 57:8 essentially 72:16 establish 12:20 73:2
continue 67:9 69:11	30:13, 20, 23 31:11, 13, 15, 21, 23 32:2, 5, 16, 19, 21 33:1, 3, 7, 10, 21, 24 34:2, 7, 10, 14, 17, 24 35:17, 24 36:2, 14, 16, 18, 24 37:1, 5, 8, 22 38:4, 17, 19, 21 39:2, 4, 8, 11 40:6, 13, 16, 22, 25 41:7, 17, 22 42:6, 19, 23 43:20 44:6 46:1, 9, 13 47:12 48:3, 17, 19 49:3, 6, 9, 13, 20, 25 51:12, 15, 22 52:2 53:1, 2, 3, 5, 10, 11, 21 54:4, 14, 16 55:7 56:3 58:1, 2, 9, 11, 15, 21 60:18, 23, 25 62:22, 23 65:10, 15 70:7, 12, 13, 16 73:17 74:1, 5, 15	Councilmember 3:9, 16, 22 4:4, 10, 16, 23 5:4, 13, 18, 25 6:6, 12, 17, 23 7:5 14:17, 22 15:1, 5, 9, 13, 17, 20, 23 16:1, 4, 7, 9, 13, 17, 20 17:4 18:7 19:13, 25 20:15 22:2, 4, 6, 10, 16 23:16 24:22 26:5 27:11 28:13 30:2 31:3 32:9 33:14 35:3 36:6 37:12 38:9 39:15 45:12 46:17 50:2, 5, 8, 11, 14, 17, 21, 24 51:2, 5, 7, 8, 24, 25 52:7, 10, 14, 17 61:7	Councilwomen 72:11 count 42:10 counterparts 67:7 country 68:17 County 9:14 course 65:16 72:19 Court 75:12 covering 13:3 COVID 69:6 COVID-19 2:17 CP 74:13 create 72:14 created 71:6 creating 9:13 creative 57:18 creators 62:6 crisis 57:23 62:2 63:8 critical 57:15 currently 2:18 CURTIS 1:1 cut 57:1 64:10, 12, 21 67:18 cuts 55:11 56:5, 14 57:12, 24 61:18, 19 63:12, 14, 16, 17, 20 67:18 cycle 64:4	deal 58:25 61:3 71:17, 18 dealing 2:8 61:11 December 43:15 44:9, 15 decided 72:13 decisions 2:11 48:11 68:2 dedicated 55:7 deeds 9:7 deficit 57:17 demolishing 9:16 Demolition 9:14 departments 13:19 56:23 depend 60:11 DEREK 1:1 Detroit 69:11 development 9:16 Diaspora 62:16 different 2:7 61:17 64:20 66:25 68:23 70:11 difficult 65:21 direct 75:21 discount 39:25 45:18, 19 47:4 Discounts 10:18 discussions 2:8 District 39:22 43:5 45:13 47:5 55:23 57:14 diversity 58:20, 21, 23 documents 9:8, 18 doing 69:14 73:12	< E > earlier 45:22 47:3 71:1 early 12:20 39:24 45:18, 19 48:8 52:24 easy 61:3 economic 9:15 57:8 economy 69:9 effective 2:11 efficient 2:11 efforts 56:9 61:22 either 62:18 eliminating 48:11 employees 60:12 62:13, 15 encourage 9:15 ended 71:3 engaged 64:3 enhance 8:22 entire 66:5 entitled 8:5, 11 9:4, 12, 24 10:4, 10, 18 11:3, 12, 18 12:1, 10, 19 entrepreneurs 69:17 equal 57:2 equity 56:12 era 69:2 especially 67:3, 21 69:16 essential 57:8 essentially 72:16 establish 12:20 73:2
convened 14:11	30:13, 20, 23 31:11, 13, 15, 21, 23 32:2, 5, 16, 19, 21 33:1, 3, 7, 10, 21, 24 34:2, 7, 10, 14,				

established 7:16	31:24 33:4 34:11 35:21	forward 39:25 61:22 62:21	going 41:1 42:11 48:21	health 2:16 8:20 55:15	Income 8:11 11:4, 18, 20
establishing 56:22	37:2 38:1 39:5 40:10, 20	65:24 70:10 73:11, 13	51:16 52:25 59:7 61:14	57:8 heard 43:24	12:11 64:24
estate 10:21 11:7 12:19, 21	45:18 49:1 favorable 18:13, 23	found 3:2 framework 70:23	67:23 69:8, 10 73:25	hearing 2:14, 24 3:2 7:16,	incorporating 13:4
71:2 72:16 73:3	20:21 21:6 23:22 24:7	frankly 42:18 55:19	good 2:3 3:11, 15, 18, 21, 24	18 13:18 14:5 42:17	increase 8:6 9:5, 15 10:5
ethnic 58:22	25:3, 15 26:11, 21 28:19 29:4	fully 75:1 Fund 9:14	4:3, 6, 9, 12, 15, 19, 22, 25 5:1,	hearings 2:20, 22	11:13 61:4 63:9 71:3
evening 2:3 3:12, 15, 19, 21,	31:9, 19 32:15, 24 33:20 34:6	56:22 72:14, 17 73:2	2, 6, 7, 10, 15, 16, 20, 24 6:2,	held 54:11	increasing 8:16
25 4:3, 7, 9, 13, 15, 19, 22 5:2,	36:12, 22 38:15, 25	funding 57:5 further 13:20	5, 7, 8, 11, 14, 20, 25 7:4, 7, 8,	HELEN 1:1	incremental 56:9
16, 17, 21, 24 6:3, 5, 7, 8, 11,	federal 57:4 fee 9:18	14:2 18:14, 24 20:22 21:7	11, 15 14:19 63:13 65:9	help 61:8 73:2 high 55:16	indicate 3:8 14:15 17:21
9, 11, 15 14:20 44:2	feedback 47:22 feel 52:22	23:23 24:8 25:3, 15 26:11,	72:1 goods 61:14	69:3 hit 56:24	19:3 21:11 24:12 27:1
everybody 65:18 70:18,	55:19 65:4, 9 Fees 9:4, 6	21 28:20 29:5 31:10, 20	graduation 68:24 69:1	Hold 46:14 51:13 54:22	29:9 31:24 33:4 34:11
24 73:19	figure 51:17 filing 12:14	32:15, 25 33:20 34:6	grant 57:10 great 58:25	57:13 home 73:6	37:3 39:5
evictions 59:4	final 70:21 Financial 13:2	36:13, 23 38:16 39:1	74:22 greater 43:8	homeless 55:18 homeowner's 72:16	individual 71:9
evidence 75:1	find 55:24 fine 42:22	future 59:7 68:3, 12	45:21 GREEN 1:1	Homestead 8:5, 7 10:4, 6	industries 68:6 70:4
Exclusion 8:6, 7 10:4, 6	first 18:16 19:1 20:24	fuzzy 42:17 < G >	4:24, 25 5:11 15:18, 19 46:5,	11:12, 14 55:25 72:6, 22	inextricably 56:13
11:12, 14	21:9 23:25 24:10 25:5, 17	GAUTHIER 1:1 4:11, 12	16 47:11, 16 49:5 50:22,	honor 69:25 hook 64:3	inflation 61:13 69:6
exemption 56:1 64:15	26:13, 23 28:22 29:7	15:10, 11 22:5, 6, 8 29:17	23 60:21, 22 ground 73:23	hour 3:4 housing 55:17	information 41:10 43:2
Exemptions 10:10, 13 12:1, 4	31:12, 22 32:17 33:2, 22	34:19, 22, 23, 25 41:3, 24	grow 70:2 growth 56:12	huge 66:13, 14 hundreds 57:15	46:17 53:10, 20
expectation 71:5	34:8 36:15, 25 38:18 39:3	42:1 50:15, 16 63:1, 2 74:14	61:23 guess 46:23	housings 55:17 huge 66:13, 14	initiatives 70:11
expensive 65:1	63:4 64:5 Fiscal 9:1	general 70:20 generate 67:9	gun 55:14 56:24 62:2	hour 3:4 housing 55:17	Inquirer 3:1
explain 43:2	13:3, 5 Five 13:1	GILMORE 1:1 4:17, 18	63:8 66:15 guys 49:10	hook 64:3 hour 3:4	inside 11:21
extend 59:3	71:24 five-year 46:20, 23	15:14, 15 27:11, 14	74:6 GYM 1:1 5:5,	hour 3:4 housing 55:17	Instructions 2:20
extending 11:5	47:17 flow 43:16	28:13, 15 50:18, 19	6 15:21, 22 22:1, 2, 4	huge 66:13, 14 hundreds 57:15	Intelligencer 3:1
extension 59:3	47:5, 7 folks 54:23	74:11 give 59:12	29:18, 19 34:20 45:11,	housings 55:17 huge 66:13, 14	interest 10:20 69:14
extremely 48:9	following 2:15 follow-up 47:12	60:9 62:8 65:1	25 50:25 51:1 54:14, 17, 18	housings 55:17 huge 66:13, 14	interests 55:21
< F >	forego 43:11 foregoing 75:1, 18	given 62:7 63:6, 8	< H > Hall 48:1	housings 55:17 huge 66:13, 14	Intergovernmental 13:8, 10
faced 56:4	forever 69:7 forgiveness 11:7	giving 55:24 glad 55:6	hand 43:11 happen 73:5	housings 55:17 huge 66:13, 14	interruption 51:11
faces 57:16	flow 43:16 47:5, 7	go 14:6 17:1 44:4 49:21	hard 48:16 63:6 65:18	housings 55:17 huge 66:13, 14	introduced 66:8
facing 66:1, 12, 20 67:22	following 2:15 follow-up 47:12	52:25 60:2, 10 67:6 73:23	70:19 71:22 hardest 56:24	housings 55:17 huge 66:13, 14	investments 56:18 59:10
fact 44:13 62:11	forego 43:11 foregoing 75:1, 18	goes 44:23	harmless 57:13	housings 55:17 huge 66:13, 14	ISAIAH 1:1
failed 53:14, 24 fails 53:7	forever 69:7 forgiveness 11:7			housings 55:17 huge 66:13, 14	issue 43:16 55:6 61:25
families 55:22 family 66:24				housings 55:17 huge 66:13, 14	66:20 71:11
far 55:20 fashion 47:10				housings 55:17 huge 66:13, 14	issues 43:12 61:15, 18 66:1, 11, 13, 15, 20
favor 17:21 19:3 20:5				housings 55:17 huge 66:13, 14	71:20 items 9:19
21:11 23:6 24:12 25:20				housings 55:17 huge 66:13, 14	
27:1 28:2 29:9 30:17				housings 55:17 huge 66:13, 14	

65:5 iterations 2:7 < J > JAMIE 1:1 January 13:13 job 62:5 jobs 62:6 JOHNSON 1:1 5:14, 15 15:24, 25 17:4, 6 18:7, 9 35:3, 6 36:6, 8 37:12, 14 38:9, 11 51:3, 4, 20 JONES 1:1 5:19, 20 16:2, 3 23:1 24:2 25:8 26:16 30:12 31:14 32:20 33:25 49:11 51:6, 7, 25 58:13, 14, 17 61:7 JR 1:1 June 1:1 < K > KATHERINE 1:1 KENDRA 1:1 KENYATTA 1:1 kind 42:17 57:12 knew 48:12 know 44:22, 24 48:10 51:23 56:11 61:24 62:1, 7 72:5 < L > language 45:5, 23 larger 63:21 last-minute 56:4 late 2:6 44:23 51:23 54:22 58:19 latest 43:3 Latin 62:16 Latinx 62:10 lay 57:15 left 48:1 Legal 3:1 leg-up 60:9	letting 64:1 Life 8:19, 22 lifestyles 59:11 limiting 10:23 linked 56:13 listen 66:17 little 2:6 52:24 65:2 lives 59:10 living 66:23 local 56:23 locate 68:7 location 1:1 Long 5:3 longer 69:2 long-term 55:2 Longtime 10:11 12:2, 5 look 66:11 67:17, 25 70:9 72:20 73:11 looking 45:5 55:1 73:13 LOOP 55:3 72:22 lose 73:6, 25 lot 2:6 40:17 60:1 64:4, 22 67:2, 23 68:11 Low 11:4 12:10 low-income 11:6 12:13 < M > mailing 45:8, 10, 24 Majority 21:21 making 9:19 55:2 64:22 marginal 57:11 MARIA 1:1 MARK 1:1 matter 75:1 Mayor 13:7, 12 McDermott 3:5 7:25 13:16 14:12, 16 50:1 mean 44:20, 22 53:14 meaningful 56:7 means 57:4, 6 75:20 measure 72:4, 23 measures 14:9 71:8	mechanism 46:12 meeting 2:18 14:7, 11 17:2, 11 35:10 54:8 57:21 64:5 66:16 Members 3:7 13:23 14:3, 14 17:13 19:19 21:21, 23 22:22 27:18 30:8 35:13 40:2 57:16 mental 55:15 message 67:16 MICHAEL 1:1 Microsoft 2:19 Microsoft® 1:1 millage 57:10 million 46:25 47:1, 2 56:20 72:18 minuscule 64:23 modify 12:3, 12 mom-and-pop 57:3 money 2:9, 12 56:21 59:20 71:14 72:21 73:16 Monson 43:6 47:8 month 45:22 mor 5:2 moratorium 59:4 morning 5:1, 12 74:10 mortgages 9:7 motion 17:4 18:3, 7 19:10, 13 20:1, 6, 12, 15 21:22 22:16 23:7, 13, 16 24:19, 22 25:21 26:2, 5 27:8, 12 28:3, 9, 14 29:25 30:2, 18, 24 31:3 32:6, 9 33:11, 14 35:4, 22 36:3, 6 37:9, 12 38:2, 5, 9 39:12, 15	40:10 42:4 48:24 move 17:13 18:11, 14, 24 19:20 20:19, 22 21:7 22:23 23:20, 23 24:8 25:1, 4, 16 26:9, 12, 22 27:19 28:17, 20 29:5 30:9 31:7, 10, 20 32:13, 16, 25 33:18, 21 34:7 35:13 36:10, 13, 23 37:18 38:13, 16 39:1 40:3 45:21 61:21 62:21 65:23 69:5 moved 17:18 18:20 20:1 23:3 24:4 25:12 26:18 27:24 29:1 30:14 31:16 32:22 34:3 35:18 36:19 37:23 38:22 39:25 40:7 moving 43:14 56:9 69:9, 12 73:11 much-needed 55:3 multiple 61:17 municipalities 68:6 municipality 66:2, 19 68:3 69:16, 24 mute 58:16 Muted 58:14 < N > named 72:15 nature 58:22 Nay 21:16, 24 22:14 29:14, 24 34:16, 20 40:15, 24 49:5, 7, 11 50:16, 20, 23 51:25 53:4 nays 53:6 nearly 56:10 71:20 need 42:12 53:8 55:1, 13,	24 58:25 62:17 72:9 needed 47:7 57:6 needle 56:10 needs 57:22 62:19 negotiation 65:20 neighborhood 8:21 neighborhoods 8:17 56:24 60:10 Net 9:24 never 63:19 64:11 68:19 new 4:7 17:8 35:8 44:5, 9 55:14 News 2:25 night 74:22 noise 40:18 51:16 North 51:20 Nos 7:20 54:9 Notary 75:12 note 3:3 52:20 54:8 noted 75:1 notes 19:24 75:1 notices 2:24 number 8:17 10:13 68:23 70:11 numbers 47:13, 20 < O > obviously 70:22 occurred 43:25 o'clock 44:1 47:25 offer 2:21 17:8 19:17 22:20 27:16 30:6 35:8 39:19 offered 17:10 37:17 39:21 officer 70:16 offsetting 47:6 OH 1:1 6:6, 7 16:7, 8 21:18 34:1 39:15, 17 41:13 42:14, 16, 21 43:4, 23	44:11, 19 45:1, 4, 12, 15 46:18, 22 47:15, 19 49:2, 17, 23 52:5, 6 53:25 54:6 Okay 22:8 25:11 41:16, 21 44:3 46:2 48:21 52:3 54:2, 5, 7 58:12 60:6 old 58:6 once 62:8 O'NEILL 1:1 6:1, 2 16:5, 6 51:9, 14 52:1, 4 open 66:10 67:17 Operating 8:25 14:8 72:4 operational 71:19 opportunity 57:25 66:17 68:22 opposed 17:25 19:7 20:9 21:15 23:10 24:16 25:24 27:5 28:6 29:13 30:21 32:3 33:8 34:15 35:25 37:6 39:9 40:14, 23 49:4 order 7:17 ordinance 8:15, 24 9:2, 10 13:11 outreach 73:17, 19 outside 11:21 owned 62:13, 15 Owner- Occupants 10:11 12:2, 5 owners 71:9 < P > p.m 1:1 74:24 pandemic 60:1 63:7 68:13 parameters
---	--	---	--	---	--

12:4, 12	permit 18:16	praised 54:25	74:1, 5, 15, 17,	7:18 13:18, 21	63:19 71:2
parents 69:1	19:1 20:24	presence 71:23	19	14:5, 7, 11	72:16 73:3
Park 35:3	21:9 23:25	PRESENT 1:1	presiding	17:2 61:25	realize 49:14
PARKER 1:1	24:10 25:5, 17	3:8, 19 4:1, 7,	70:16	62:4 70:20	really 40:18
6:13, 14 16:10,	26:13, 23	13, 20 5:3, 8,	previously	75:12	61:8 71:5
11 17:16	28:22 29:7	22 6:9, 16, 22	37:17	published 2:25	reason 43:17
18:18 19:22,	31:12, 22	7:2, 9 14:16,	prior 3:1	pursuant 13:9	reasonable
25 21:1 22:16,	32:17 33:2, 22	20, 25 15:3, 8,	43:15	put 65:22	43:7, 19
18 23:16, 18	34:8 36:15, 25	12, 16, 19, 22,	priority 56:1	66:21 67:7, 11	rebates 12:20
24:22, 24 26:5,	38:18 39:3	25 16:3, 6, 8,	privilege 68:22	69:25 72:5	rebound 63:24
7 27:22 28:24	person 73:5	12, 16, 19, 22	pro 56:15	73:16	Receipt 8:12
30:2, 4 31:3, 5	PHILADELPH	presented	probably 62:3	puts 68:4	Receipts 11:19,
32:9, 11 33:14,	IA 1:1 3:13	55:12	problematic	putting 57:4	21
16 35:16	8:5, 10 9:4, 12,	PRESIDENT	44:10	71:14	receive 44:13
36:17 37:21	14, 23 10:3, 9,	1:1 2:2 3:12,	proceedings	< Q >	received 47:22
38:20 49:8	17 11:3, 11, 17,	14, 20, 25 4:2,	75:1	quality 8:22	recognize
52:8, 9 72:11	25 12:9, 18	8, 14, 20, 21	process 2:5	66:22	62:20 67:2
74:16	13:1, 3 39:23	5:1, 7, 9, 16, 21,	65:20 73:14	question 46:6	68:14
part 67:14	55:23 61:9	23 6:4, 8, 10,	Profits 9:24	48:5 55:5	recognized
particular	65:24 66:10,	15, 21 7:1, 3, 8,	Program 8:19	questions	21:24
55:1 70:23	13 67:6, 10, 13,	10, 13, 14	10:14	13:23 14:2	recognizes
71:10 72:23	16 68:8, 9	13:15 14:1	programs	46:3	17:3 18:6
particularly	69:19 70:3	16:24, 25	67:24	QUINONES	19:12 20:14
65:5	Philly 51:21	17:17, 24 18:2,	projected	6:19 16:15	22:15 23:15
pass 21:21	PHLCouncil.co	19 19:6, 9, 16,	56:20 57:14	42:25 46:7, 11	24:21 26:4
41:15 61:1	m 3:3	23 20:8, 11, 18	71:1	48:6 52:12	27:10 28:12
passed 46:21	phone 71:24,	21:2, 14, 17	promise 59:16	58:7 73:21	30:1 31:2
passes 21:21	25	22:3, 7, 11	promote 61:23	74:3, 18	32:8 33:13
passionate	pitched 63:16	23:2, 9, 12	properly	QUINONES-	35:2 36:5
59:8	place 69:13	24:3, 15, 18	17:19 18:21	SANCHEZ	37:11 39:14
patience 2:4	placeholder	25:9, 23 26:1,	20:2 21:3	1:1 6:18	46:10, 14
pay 44:14, 17	72:18	17 27:4, 7, 23	25:13 26:19	16:14 48:4	53:12 54:17
47:4 52:24	Plan 13:2	28:5, 8, 25	27:25 29:2	52:11 58:5	58:12 60:20
payable 45:7	46:20, 23	29:12, 15, 20,	30:15 31:17	quite 42:17	62:25 65:12
paying 67:12	47:17	23 30:13, 20,	32:22 34:4	55:19	recognizing
payment	please 3:5, 7	23 31:15 32:2,	35:19 36:20	quorum 7:16	57:7
12:20 47:3	7:25 14:13, 15	5, 21 33:7, 10	37:24 38:23	< R >	recommendatio
payments	pleasure 70:9	34:2, 14, 17, 24	40:8	racetrack	n 18:14, 24
10:23 48:8	pocket 71:15	35:17, 24 36:2,	properties	51:19	20:22 21:7
penalties 10:20	pockets 64:25	18 37:5, 8, 22	9:17 10:12	raising 64:15	23:23 24:8
Pennsylvania	Point 41:10	38:4, 12, 21	12:3	ramifications	25:3, 15 26:11,
13:7 66:5	43:1 46:6, 17	39:8, 11 40:6,	property	68:1	21 28:20 29:5
people 52:23	53:9, 19 54:1	13, 16, 22, 25	10:22 61:4	rates 9:25	31:10, 20
58:25 59:9, 23	65:8	41:7, 17, 22	63:10 71:9	reached 59:5	32:15, 25
60:11, 12	popular 48:10	42:6, 19, 23	proportionally	read 7:25	33:20 34:6
61:18, 19 62:3	population	43:20 44:6	57:2	reading 18:16	36:13, 23
66:17, 21	62:10, 11	46:1, 9, 13	proposal 64:11	19:1 20:24	38:16 39:1
68:16, 17	69:22	47:12 48:3, 18,	propose 56:7	21:9 23:25	recommends
69:20 71:7	populations	19 49:3, 6, 9,	proposed 56:5	24:10 25:5, 17	38:8
72:8, 24 73:2	69:20	13, 20, 25	provide 47:7	26:13, 24	record 19:25
percent 39:24	position 43:21	51:12, 15, 22	57:12 61:10	28:22 29:7	21:19, 25
43:8, 9 45:9,	48:13 65:23	52:2 53:1, 2, 3,	66:22 71:8	31:12, 22	22:12 29:16
14, 20, 21	66:22 67:8, 11	5, 10, 11, 21	provides 47:4	32:17 33:2, 22	34:18 37:18
46:19, 24, 25	68:4 70:1	54:4, 15, 16	providing	34:8 36:15, 25	52:20 54:9
53:15, 17, 19,	71:7 73:5	58:1, 2, 11, 15,	12:24 55:4	38:18 39:3	72:3
23 60:5 62:9,	possible 2:20	18 60:17, 18,	Provisions	real 10:21	record-
10, 12, 14	poverty 66:14	23 62:22, 23	11:5 12:11, 13	11:7 12:19, 21	breaking 73:8
67:19 69:21,	powerful 55:21	63:3 65:10, 15	public 2:13,		recorded 9:18
23 71:2		70:7, 12, 13	16, 21, 22, 24		

recording 9:6	Resolution	rules 18:15, 25	38:23 40:8	Somebody	substantially
Records 9:5	7:24 8:2	20:23 21:8	48:25	40:18 41:25	8:16
recover 60:5	12:23, 24	23:24 24:9	seconds 20:1	Somebody's	suburban 67:7
reduce 41:6,	54:10	25:4, 16 26:12,	Section 8:4	25:10	suffered 60:2
11, 18 53:17	RESOLUTION	22 28:21 29:6	9:3, 11, 23	somewhat	supersede
reduced 39:23	S 1:1	31:11, 21	10:3, 17 11:11,	52:22	17:9 35:9
reduces 43:10	resolve 59:22	32:16 33:1, 21	17, 25	Sorry 2:5	superseding
reflect 21:19	resources	34:7 36:14, 24	see 61:13, 14	21:18, 20	39:20
22:13 29:16	61:10	38:17 39:2	74:9	34:25 35:4	supervision
34:18	respect 11:19		seen 68:19	41:8, 10 47:18	75:21
refund 11:7	13:5 71:11	< S >	send 66:9	51:23	support 48:14
regarding 7:19	responding	safety 8:20	67:16	sort 63:16	64:7, 8, 9 71:8,
region 66:3	57:22	62:1, 5	Senior 11:3	sounds 51:18	13
regions 68:15	response	salons 59:18	12:10	space 69:13	sure 2:9
related 9:7, 18,	13:25 18:1	SANCHEZ	seniors 11:6	speak 58:1	41:12 44:22
19	19:8 20:10	6:20 16:16	12:13 55:4	68:23	47:22 73:1, 19
relates 64:21	23:11 24:17	43:1 46:8, 12	serious 43:12	Special 11:4	surplus 67:22
65:19 66:14,	25:25 27:6	48:7 52:13	51:16 56:16	12:11, 12	surrounding
15 67:1 68:12	28:7 30:22	58:8 73:22	served 8:18	specialized	68:15
relief 55:4	32:4 33:9	74:4, 19	services 64:1	64:17	suspended
56:19 57:5, 9	36:1 37:7	satisfies 43:16	67:23	specific 59:2	18:15, 25
59:3 72:17	39:10	saying 3:8	session 18:17	specifically	20:23 21:8
relocate 67:5	responsible	17:22 19:4	19:2 20:25	67:18	23:24 24:9
remarks 54:21	60:8	20:6 21:12	21:10 24:1, 11	spending 14:9	25:5, 17 26:13,
remember	result 73:7	23:7 24:13	25:6, 18 26:14,	spent 55:20	23 28:21 29:6
59:1, 13, 16	resume 13:17	25:21 27:2	25 28:23 29:8	spite 72:6	31:11, 21
remind 70:19	revenue 63:25	28:3 29:10	31:13, 23	spoke 43:5	32:17 33:1, 22
Remote 1:1	64:24 67:9, 21	30:18 31:25	32:18 33:3, 23	sponsor 48:23	34:8 36:14, 24
remotely 2:18	revenues 59:21	33:5 34:12	34:9 36:16	49:21 53:22	38:17 39:2
68:18	review 56:6	35:22 37:3	37:1 38:19	SQUILLA 1:1	
repeat 56:8	revise 10:12	38:2 39:6	39:4 70:17	6:24, 25 16:18,	< T >
57:20	Revised 13:1, 5	40:11 68:21	set 54:21	19 41:5, 8, 9,	take 3:6
report 42:5, 7	revising 8:12	School 39:22	63:14, 17	14, 20 52:15,	14:13 52:21
reported	9:25	43:5 47:3, 5	shared 57:2	16 53:9, 12, 13	69:24 70:21
18:12, 22	revitalizing	55:23 57:14	shift 57:10	54:2, 5 74:21	taken 14:8
20:20 21:5	56:17	69:3	shops 57:3	staff 47:21, 25	75:1
23:21 24:6		schools 55:13	59:23	55:14 57:15	talk 63:11
25:2, 14 26:10,	RICHARDSON	57:7 71:13	side 58:9	start 2:5	66:18 70:17
20 28:18 29:3	1:1 4:17, 19	Second 17:16	71:19	start-up 72:18	talked 61:7
31:8, 18 32:14,	15:14, 16	18:18 19:22	signal 66:10	statement 48:8	talking 64:14,
23 33:19 34:5	27:11, 15	21:1 23:1	significant	statements	17 67:20
36:11, 21	28:13, 16	24:2 25:8	62:1 71:6	47:8	TANEHA
38:14, 24	50:18, 20	26:16 27:22	72:21	statistic 62:7	75:11
Reporter	74:12	28:24 30:12	significantly	stays 53:18	targeted 56:18,
75:12, 22	right 29:24	31:14 32:20	43:9	stenographic	19 57:9, 18
reproduction	40:17 41:1, 15,	33:25 34:1	signify 20:6	75:1	64:18
75:20	16 42:9 44:5	35:16 36:17	23:7 25:21	stewards 60:8	Tax 9:13, 25
request 39:22	46:2 53:7, 14	37:21 38:20	28:3 30:18	story 64:20	10:10, 19, 21,
43:18 44:20	60:13 65:25	40:5	35:22 38:2	street 73:15	23 11:4 12:1,
47:24 49:18	71:4 74:2	seconded	40:11	streets 57:5	4, 11, 12 45:8,
requested	rise 58:19	17:19 18:21	similar 65:16	strenuous	24 55:11 56:4,
45:16, 19	59:15	20:2 21:4	simply 57:21	65:21	5, 14 57:1, 12,
requests 49:22	rising 61:13	23:4 24:5	slew 56:4	structural	24 59:21
Residential	roll 3:6 14:13	25:13 26:19	small 56:23	57:13, 16	60:15 61:4
10:12 12:3, 5	41:2 42:13, 15,	27:25 29:2	59:17 60:1	structures	63:10, 12, 14,
residents 8:23	22 49:15, 18,	31:17 32:22	61:8 62:6	57:20	15 64:10, 12,
55:2 64:24	22 50:1	34:4 35:19	63:17 64:7, 15	students 69:4	16, 21 65:1
65:1	roughly 46:24	36:20 37:24	solutions 55:24	submitted 13:6	71:15 72:17
				subsidies 56:7	

Taxes 8:12, 13 9:25 11:8, 19 12:19, 21 47:4 52:24 56:6 67:12 72:9 73:3 taxpayer's 71:15 Teams 1:1 2:19 technical 9:19 Technology 69:6 tell 69:3 tenants 60:13 terms 8:8, 13 9:8, 20 10:1, 7, 15, 25 11:8, 15, 22 12:6, 15, 21 testify 14:4 testimony 2:22 13:20 Thank 2:3, 4 13:16 14:20 15:4 17:1, 6, 18 18:9, 20 19:11, 15, 24 20:17 21:3, 22 22:18 23:3, 18 24:4, 24 25:10 26:3, 7, 18 27:9, 15, 24 28:16 29:1 30:4, 14 31:5, 16 32:11 33:16 34:3 35:6, 18 36:4, 8, 19 37:14, 23 38:11, 22 39:17 40:7 45:25 48:17, 20 49:21, 23 54:3, 5, 6, 18, 19 57:25 58:3, 10, 17 60:17, 19, 22, 25 62:22, 24 63:2, 4 65:6, 9, 11, 14, 17 70:7, 8, 12, 14, 18, 24 71:22 73:10 74:6, 10, 12, 14, 16, 19, 20, 21 thereof 14:10 thing 60:14 71:16 72:3 73:4 things 61:6 68:18, 25	69:14 71:12, 17 think 42:16 43:18 44:11 45:23 48:8 53:25 58:4 60:14 62:2, 19 63:5, 23 66:6, 7, 9, 24 67:1, 14, 25 71:19 thinking 66:2, 3, 4 THOMAS 1:1 7:6, 7 16:21, 22 19:13, 15 20:15, 17 52:18, 19 65:13, 14 thought 58:23 threat 2:16 thrive 68:8 time 45:22 48:22 53:16, 17 55:8, 12, 20 59:2 63:23 65:6 69:3, 4 70:25 times 61:12 71:24 Title 11:2 titles 8:1 today 55:12 66:7, 16 67:15 68:2 70:17 74:9 told 45:13 68:25 tolling 10:19 tonight 58:19 59:15 60:16 total 10:13 46:25 47:1 67:20 tough 49:15 transcript 75:1, 19 trauma 55:15 trend 69:11 tried 55:18 65:22 tristate 66:4 true 56:12 try 48:21 61:9, 15 68:8 69:8 trying 48:14 63:7, 24 71:7 two 21:20	< U > ultimately 61:16, 20, 24 72:7 unfortunately 69:22 urgent 55:5, 13 Uri 43:5 47:8 < V > vacancies 60:5 value 10:22 verified 47:14 VICE-CHAIR 1:1 view 2:21 violence 55:15 56:25 63:8 66:15 virtual 48:1 virtually 59:6 vote 48:22 52:21, 25 53:15, 18, 23 54:7 55:10 56:13 59:13 63:12, 13 66:6 70:21, 23 voted 22:14 29:24 34:20 35:1 votes 65:4 voting 21:24 42:2, 3 59:2 < W > Wage 9:24 55:10 57:11, 24 60:15 64:21 71:15 wait 58:8 want 2:9 42:2, 11, 14, 21 52:20 54:22 59:16, 25 60:24 63:4 65:17 70:18, 19, 24 71:22 72:2 73:1, 10 wanted 45:14, 16 48:7 54:19 61:18, 19 63:11 way 65:24 68:19 71:4 ways 59:20 Wednesday 1:1	Well 21:20 34:23 42:9 49:17 59:5 61:6 66:23 We're 2:8 5:11 41:1 42:2, 3, 11, 20 48:21 63:6, 23 64:22 66:1, 12, 20 67:20, 22 68:14, 16 69:2, 8, 10, 22 73:25 We've 7:15 48:10 67:15 68:19 wish 53:22 58:5 witnesses 14:4 work 65:7, 18 67:15 68:11, 17 70:9, 10, 19 71:23 72:13 73:24 worked 59:9 61:1 world 60:4 69:7, 10 < Y > Yeah 41:9, 18 42:20 43:4 44:11, 19, 21 45:1 Year 9:1 13:1, 6 43:15 56:3 68:24 72:19 Years 13:3 Year's 44:5 yesterday 39:21 yesterday's 17:10 35:10 young 59:23 Yup 74:4
---	--	--	---